
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

TOWN COUNCIL MEETING  

AGENDA 

TUESDAY, April 7, 2015 
 

 

Mayor David Browning (Seat 4) 

Vice-Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel (Seat 1) 

Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5) 

Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3) 

Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 

 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, APRIL 7, 2015 

   Page 1 of 3  
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
04/07/2015 
 

  
Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

Town Council Meeting 
Tuesday, April 7, 2015 - 7:00 p.m. to 10:30 p.m. 

(Times established by Resolution No. 2014-08… commencing at 7:00 p.m., and ending no 
later than 10:30 p.m., which can be extended by motion of the Council.) 

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, 101 West “D” Road 
   

Mayor David Browning (Seat 4)           Town Manager William F. Underwood, II 
Vice-Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel (Seat 1)    Town Clerk Janet K. Whipple 
Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5)     Town Planning Consultant Jim Fleishmann 
Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3)     Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo, Jr. 
Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE/AGENDA 

 
1. OPENING 
 

a. Call to Order & Roll Call 
 
b. Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation – Mayor Browning 
 
c. Approval of Agenda 
 
d. Appointment of Mayor 
 
e. Appointment of Vice-Mayor 
 

2. CONSENT AGENDA  
 

a. Invoice from Goren, Cherof, Doody & Ezrol, P.A. 
 

b. Minutes: 
• January 6, 2015 – Town Council Meeting 
• January 20, 2015 – Town Council Meeting 
• February 3, 2015 – Town Council Meeting 

 
 

Tentative  
Subject to Revision 
 

1 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, APRIL 7, 2015 

   Page 2 of 3  
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
04/07/2015 
 

3. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

4. PRESENTATIONS – NONE 
 

5. COMMITTEE REPORTS  - NONE 
 

a. Virginia Standish, Chair of the Finance Advisory and Audit Committee (FAAC) to 
present the Financial Report ending February, Fiscal Year 2015. 

 
6. RESOLUTIONS 

 
a. RESOLUTION NO. 2015-09:  QUASI JUDICIAL/PUBLIC HEARING:  (Big 

Dog Ranch Special Exception & Site Plan Approval)A RESOLUTION OF THE 
TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 
FLORIDA, APPROVING THE BIG DOG RANCH SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
AND SITE PLAN, FOR LAND OWNED BY TLH 25 VILLA, LLC 
CONSISTING OF 33.16 ACRES MORE OR LESS, LOCATED AT THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OKEECHOBEE BOULEVARD AND “D” ROAD 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, LEGALLY DESCRIBED IN 
EXHIBIT “A” TO THIS RESOLUTION; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. (Staff recommends continuation to a date certain of the April 21, 2015, 
Town Council Meeting). 

 
7. ORDINANCES – NONE 

 
8. MANAGER’S REPORT – Town Manager Underwood 

 
a. Agenda Item Report (AIR) - Updates on various activities and issues concerning the 

Town  
 

9. OLD BUSINESS  
 

a. Consideration to hire a reliable hunter/trapper contractor who is licensed and bonded, 
and having the capability and resources to remove or eradicate the current coyote 
nuisance problem within the Town of Loxahatchee Groves.  

 
10. NEW BUSINESS 

 
a. Notification to Council that during the Town Council Meeting on April 21, 2015, 

each Council Member will be appointing board members of their choice to the 
respective Town Boards. 
 

b. Requesting consideration for work authorizations to perform miscellaneous 
ordinances and Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) reform. 
 

2 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, APRIL 7, 2015 

   Page 3 of 3  
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
04/07/2015 
 

c. Consideration in determining whether forfeiture provisions to remove a Town 
Council Member in question, falls within the parameter of the Town Charter.  
(Attachment) 

 
 
 
11. COUNCIL REPORTS 

 
Vice-Mayor Jarriel: 
 

a. Discussion requesting the Town Attorney to draft a resolution supporting three (3) 
man rescue vehicles at Fire Stations 21 and 26 and all other stations. 
  

b. Discussion requesting reconsideration of cooperation with John Carter from Minto 
West for assistance in the planning of the Okeechobee Boulevard Corridor.  
 

c. Discussion concerning Class III waste delivery to Town properties, (class III waste is 
yard trash, construction and demolition debris, processed tires, asbestos, carpet, 
cardboard, paper, glass, plastic, furniture other appliances, or other materials 
approved by the Department that are not expected to produce leachate which poses a 
threat to public health or the environment. (Attachment)  
 

12. CLOSING COMMENTS 
 

a. Public  
b. Town Attorney  
c. Town Council Members 

 
13. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The next regular Town Council Meeting is tentatively scheduled for April 21, 2015. 
 
 
 

 
 

Comment Cards: Anyone from the public wishing to address the Town Council must complete a Comment Card before speaking. This must 
be filled out completely with your full name and address and given to the Town Clerk. During the meeting, before public comments, you may 
only address the item on the agenda in which is being discussed at the time of your comment. During public comments, you may address any 
item you desire. Please remember that there is a three (3) minute time limit on all public comment. Any person who decides to appeal any 
decision of the Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings and for such purpose, may 
need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made which included testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 
Persons with disabilities requiring accommodations in order to participate should contact the Town Clerk’s Office (561-793-2418), at least 48 
hours in advance to request such accommodation. 

3 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 2.a. 

Consent Agenda 
 

Attorney Invoice 

4 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



5 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



6 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



7 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



8 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



9 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



10 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



11 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



12 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



13 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 2.b. 

Consent Agenda 
 

Minutes 

January 6, 2015 Town Council Meeting 

January 20, 2015 Town Council Meeting 

February 3, 2015 Town Council Meeting 

14 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 6, 2015 

   Page 1 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/06/2015 
 

  
Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

Town Council Meeting 
Tuesday, January 6, 2015 - 7:00 p.m. to 10:30 p.m. 

(Times established by Resolution No. 2014-08… commencing at 7:00 p.m., and ending no 
later than 10:30 p.m., which can be extended by motion of the Council.) 

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, 101 West “D” Road 
   
 

Mayor David Browning (Seat 4)         Town Manager William F. Underwood, II 
Vice-Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel (Seat 1)  Town Clerk Janet K. Whipple 
Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5)   Town Planning Consultant Jim Fleischmann 
Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3)   Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo, Jr. 
Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 
 

 
MINUTES 

 
1. OPENING 
 

a. Call to Order & Roll Call 
 

Mayor Browning called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  Present were Mayor David Browning, 
Vice-Mayor Ron Jarriel, Councilmen Tom Goltzené, and Jim Rockett.  Councilman Liang was 
not present at this time.  Also present were Town Manager Bill Underwood, Town Attorney 
Mike Cirullo, and Town Clerk Janet K. Whipple. 
  

b. Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation – Mayor Browning 
 
c. Approval of Agenda 
 

Motion:  Councilman Goltzené made a motion to delete Item 9.a. from the Agenda.  Motion 
died due to lack of a second. 

 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve the Agenda, as presented.  Vice-
Mayor Jarriel seconded the motion.  The motion passed 3/1 with Councilman Goltzené 
casting the dissenting vote. 

15 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 6, 2015 

   Page 2 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/06/2015 
 

2. CONSENT AGENDA  
 

a. Invoice from Goren, Cherof, Doody & Ezrol, P.A. 
 

b. Minutes:   
• October 21, 2014 Regular Town Council Meeting 

 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda.  Vice-Mayor 
Jarriel seconded the motion.  Upon vote, the motion passed 4/0. 

 
3. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
 
4.  PRESENTATIONS – NONE 
 
 
5.  COMMITTEE REPORTS – NONE 
 
(Clerk note: For this meeting, the reading of ordinances will come before resolutions in order 
to keep proper protocol.) 
 
 
6. ORDINANCES  
 

a. ORDINANCE NO. 2014-12:   PUBLIC HEARING/SECOND AND FINAL 
 READING   (Referendum Question – Non-Binding Straw Ballot question related to 
 willingness of voters to pay, if necessary, for road improvements.) 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, SUBMITTING TO REFERENDUM A NON-BINDING STRAW 
BALLOT RELATING TO WILLINGNESS OF VOTERS TO PAY ADDITIONAL TAXES, 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS OR OTHER FEES FOR ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS BY THE 
TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES; PROVIDING FOR BALLOT TITLE AND 
SUMMARY; PROVIDING FOR NOTICE TO BE PUBLISHED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
STATE OF FLORIDA ELECTION CODE; PROVIDING THAT THIS ORDINANCE, WHEN 
ADOPTED, SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO THE QUALIFIED ELECTORS OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, AS A SPECIAL ELECTION WITH THE TOWN’S GENERAL 
MUNICIPAL ELECTION ON MARCH 10, 2015, AND PLACED ON THE ELECTION 
BALLOT FOR SAID ELECTION; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY;  PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo read the title of Ordinance No. 2014-12 for Second and Final Reading. 
 

16 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 6, 2015 

   Page 3 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/06/2015 
 

Motion:  Vice-Mayor Jarriel made a motion to approve Ordinance No. 2014-12 on Second 
and Final Reading.  Councilman Rockett seconded the motion.  Upon roll call vote, the motion 
passed 3/1 with Councilman Goltzené casting the dissenting vote. 
 
 
7. RESOLUTIONS  
 

a. RESOLUTION NO. 2015-01:  (Ballot Language) 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, SUPPLEMENTING RESOLUTION 2014-21 TO PROVIDE THE 
PALM BEACH COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS WITH THE BALLOT 
LANGUAGE FOR QUESTIONS TO BE PLACED ON THE BALLOT FOR THE MARCH 10, 
2015, TOWN MUNICIPAL ELECTION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT, SEVERABILITY, 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo explained the premise and read the title of Resolution No. 2015-01. 
 
Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve Resolution No. 2015-01.  Vice-Mayor 
Jarriel seconded the motion.  Upon roll call vote, the motion passed 3/1 with Councilman 
Goltzené casting the dissenting vote.   

 

b. RESOLUTION NO. 2015-02:   (Request to waive payment of real property) 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, REQUESTING THE PALM BEACH COUNTY COMMISSION TO 
WAIVE PAYMENT BY THE TOWN FOR THE CONVEYANCE OF TITLE TO REAL 
PROPERTY CURRENTLY LEASED BY THE COUNTY TO THE CENTRAL PALM BEACH 
COUNTY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE AT THE LOXAHATCHEE GROVES PARK,  TO 
THE TOWN AS PART OF THE TOWN’S TRANSACTION TO PURCHASE THE 
CHAMBER’S BUILDING CONSTRUCTED ON THE PROPERTY; PROVIDING FOR 
DELIVERY OF THIS RESOLUTION TO PALM BEACH COUNTY; PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICT, SEVERABILITY, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo read the title of Resolution No. 2015-02, and then explained the 
purpose.  

 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve Resolution No. 2015-02.  Vice-
Mayor Jarriel seconded the motion.  Upon roll call vote, the motion passed 4/0. 

 

17 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 6, 2015 

   Page 4 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/06/2015 
 

Town Manager Underwood requested that Council authorize Staff to work with Palm Beach 
County concerning this matter.  

 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion authorizing Staff to work with Palm Beach 
County concerning the purchasing logistics of the Chamber of Commerce Building, located 
at 13901 Southern Boulevard.  Councilman Goltzené seconded the motion.  Upon vote, the 
motion passed 4/0. 
 

c. RESOLUTION NO. 2015-03:  (In support of State Road 7 Extension to Northlake 
Boulevard) 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA EXPRESSING ITS CONTINUING SUPPORT FOR THE EXTENSION 
OF STATE ROAD 7 FROM OKEECHOBEE BOULEVARD TO NORTHLAKE 
BOULEVARD; OBJECTING TO THE POSTPONEMENT OF THE CONSTRUCTION OF 
THE STATE ROAD 7 EXTENSION AND URGING THAT THE EXTENSION BE 
CONSTRUCTED IN FISCAL YEAR 2016; PROVIDING FOR DISTRIBUTION OF THIS 
RESOLUTION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo read the title of Resolution No. 2015-03.    
 
Mayor Browning requested a discussion of Seminole Pratt Whitney Boulevard be placed on a 
future agenda. 
 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve Resolution No. 2015-03.  Vice-
Mayor Jarriel seconded the motion.  Upon roll call vote, the motion passed 4/0. 
 

d. RESOLUTION NO. 2015-04:  (Reconsideration of Roadway, Equestrian Trail and 
Greenway Committee (RETGAC) appointment).   

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, AMENDING RESOLUTION 2011-005, RELATING TO THE TOWN 
“ROADWAY, EQUESTRIAN TRAILS AND GREENWAY ADVISORY COMMITTEE” TO 
AMEND THE PROVISIONS RELATING TO DUTIES, MEETINGS AND PROCEDURES OF 
THE COMMITTEE, AND TO DESCRIBE THE ROLE OF THE COUNCIL LIAISON TO THE 
COMMITTEE; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT, SEVERABILITY, AND AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo read the title of Resolution No. 2015-04. 
 

18 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 6, 2015 

   Page 5 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/06/2015 
 

Town Manager Underwood provided background on Resolution No. 2015-04. 
 
Motion:  Councilman Goltzené made a motion to approve Resolution No. 2015-04, with two 
changes.  He requested to delete b.3. on Page 2, and also to allow the Town Manager to pick 
topics of discussion, as well as Council, to present to Board. TM shall prepare agenda and 
establish the meeting dates, act as secretary and attend all meetings.  Mayor Browning passed 
the gavel and seconded the motion.  
 
Councilman Rockett added suggestions for additional changes. 
 
Town Attorney reiterated changes.  Councilman Goltzené and Mayor Browning are agreeable 
with the changes in the motion.  
 
Keith Harris, 2580 C Road, reported that he is currently still the Chair for the Roadway, 
Equestrian Trails, and Greenway Advisory Committee (RETGAC) and elaborated on the role of 
the Committee as it was.  If Council approves this resolution, as amended, and reinstates the 
Committee, he will behave himself and conduct the Committee accordingly. 
 
Upon roll call vote the motion passed 4/0. 
 
 

  8.  MANAGER’S REPORT – Town Manager Underwood 
 

a. AGENDA ITEM REPORT (AIR) - Updates on various activities and issues concerning 
the Town. 

 
Town Manager Underwood provided the information in his report. 
 
 
9.  OLD BUSINESS  
 

a. Consideration for removal of Keith Harris from the Roadway, Equestrian Trail and 
 Greenway Advisory Committee (RETGAC). 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo explained the situation to Council, however, Councilman Liang was not 
present this evening, and Mr. Harris was his appointee to the RETGAC.  This removal request 
was founded on a complaint which was asked to be brought before the Council.  
 
Town Attorney explained the removal has to be a Council decision as the Board/Committee 
Members serve at the pleasure of the Town Council. 
 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to remove Keith Harris from the Roadway, 
Equestrian Trails, and Greenway Advisory Committee (RETGAC).  Vice-Mayor Jarriel 
seconded the motion. 

19 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 6, 2015 

   Page 6 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/06/2015 
 

 
Councilman Goltzené expressed his concerns concerning the dismissal of Mr. Harris from the  
RETGAC. 
 
Jeff Kurtz, attorney representing Keith Harris, wanted to know what Mr. Harris did that was so 
embarrassing.  
 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to accept Receive and File documents 
presented by Mr. Kurtz.  Vice-Mayor Jarriel seconded the motion.  Upon vote the motion 
passed 4/0. 
 
Councilman Goltzené left the dais at 8:42 p.m.  
 
Mr. Kurtz continued with his presentation, and noted since Councilman Liang was not present he 
did not know what his concerns were against Mr. Harris. 
 
Jo Siciliano and Laura Danowski, both RETGAC Board Members expressed their concerns over 
the removal of Mr. Harris from the Board, and felt as this action was unjustified. 
 
Upon vote, the motion to remove Keith Harris from the RETGAC, received a 2/2 vote and 
it did not pass. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo stated the process will have to start over, and Council will have to make 
the decision.  
 
Council made comments concerning the incident. 
 
 
10. NEW BUSINESS  
 

a. Consideration of request for removal of 200-foot portion of West D Road on the 
Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District’s property from the Town of Loxahatchee 
Groves’ Gas Tax Map in order to satisfy the September 12, 2014 Code Compliance 
Affidavit of Complaint issued by the Town. 

 
Town Manager Underwood explained the reason behind the request, and noted page 3 was 
missing..  
 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to authorize the Town Attorney and Town 
Staff to work with the Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District (LGWCD) in order to 
resolve the situation.  Councilman Goltzené seconded the motion.  
 
Keith Harris provided his opinion on the traffic that will be unsafe.  He noted the residents need 
access to our only commercial area and requested the district move their fence back 30 feet, so 
that the commercial area and post office can be accessed safely. 
 

20 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 6, 2015 

   Page 7 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/06/2015 
 

Town Attorney Cirullo will come back with a recommendation. 
 
Upon vote, the motion passed 4/0. 
 

 
b. Consideration to request the District Board of Supervisors of the Loxahatchee Groves 

Water Control District (LGWCD) to authorize the transfer of B Road to the Town of 
Loxahatchee Groves; once the Easement Map is completed and recorded, but prior to the 
commencement of any resurfacing work.   

Town Manager Underwood noted the Town needs to send a request to the LGWCD for all the B 
Road negotiations to be done. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo stated B Road needs to be conveyed to the Town, and noted if the 
agreement gets approved someone else will pay. 
 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to request the transfer of B Road to the Town 
once the easement map is completed.  Vice-Mayor Jarriel seconded the motion.  The 
motion passed 3/0, as Council Goltzene abstained from voting. 
 
 
11.  CLOSING COMMENTS 
 

a. Public 
 
Phyllis Maniglia, 359 West D Road, reported there were no “No Fireworks” signs up in 
Loxahatchee Groves for New Year’s Eve. There were a lot of fireworks and a lot of horses were 
frightened due to the noise. 
 
Joyce Batcheler, 760 E Road, stated she has not attended a Council Meeting in a long time 
because of all the mudslinging.  Everyone has the right to speak. She has been here for twenty-
two (22) years and the same trail issues are still being discussed. She spoke in favor of Keith 
Harris, and stated everybody should benefit from the Town, and the residents need to find a way 
to get along.  

 
b. Town Attorney   

 
Town Attorney Cirullo wished everyone a Happy New Year. 

 
c. Town Council Members 
 

Councilman Goltzene commented he was glad to see so many equestrians in support of Keith 
Harris, and hopes they come back. 
  

21 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 6, 2015 

   Page 8 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/06/2015 
 

Vice-Mayor Jarriel thanked everyone for coming and to be safe going home. 
 

Councilman Rockett thanked everyone for coming. 
 

Mayor Browning hopes that the Town is seeing the light at the end of the tunnel, and will be able 
to fulfill the dreams that the residents have had for a long time.  He thanked everyone for coming 
and wished them a Happy New Year. 
 
 
12.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Town Council, Mayor Browning 
adjourned the meeting at 8:14 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Janet K. Whipple, Town Clerk   David Browning, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

These minutes were approved during the April 7, 2015 Town Council Meeting. 

22 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 20, 2015 

   Page 1 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/20/2014 
 

  
Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

Town Council Meeting 
Tuesday, January 20, 2015 - 7:00 p.m. to 10:30 p.m. 

(Times established by Resolution No. 2014-08… commencing at 7:00 p.m., and ending no 
later than 10:30 p.m., which can be extended by motion of the Council.) 

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, 101 West “D” Road 
   
 

Mayor David Browning (Seat 4)            Town Manager William F. Underwood, II 
Vice-Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel (Seat 1)     Town Clerk Janet K. Whipple 
Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5)      Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo, Jr. 
Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3) 
Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 

 
MINUTES 

 
1. OPENING 
 

a. Call to Order & Roll Call 
 
Mayor Browning called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  Present were Mayor David 
Browning, Vice-Mayor Ron Jarriel, Councilmen Ryan Liang, and Jim Rockett.  
Councilman Goltzené was not present at this time.  Also present was Town Manager Bill 
Underwood, Town Attorney Mike Cirullo, Town Planning Consultant Jim Fleischmann, 
and Town Clerk Janet K. Whipple. 

 
b. Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation – Mayor Browning 
 
c. Approval of Agenda 

 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve the Agenda as presented.  
Councilman Liang seconded the motion.  Upon vote, the motion passed 4/0. 
 
 
2. CONSENT AGENDA  
 

a. Minutes:   
• November 4, 2014, Regular Town Council Meeting 

23 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 20, 2015 

   Page 2 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/20/2014 
 

Motion:  Councilman Liang made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda, as presented.  
Vice-Mayor Jarriel seconded the motion.  Upon vote, the motion passed 4/0. 
 
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 
Jerry Wuhrman, from Waste-Wise Disposal and Recycle LLC, came back to Council to present 
his business plan concerning waste disposal solutions. 

 
Motion:  Councilman Liang made a motion to Receive and File documents presented by 
Mr. Wuhrman.  Vice-Mayor Jarriel seconded the motion.  Upon vote, the motion passed 
4/0. 

 
Darlene Snowball, 3116 161st Terrace North, hoped that 161st Terrace would get OGEM 
resurfacing.  She was glad the Palm Beach State College was finally breaking ground, and she 
had noticed Ron Jarriel’s and Ryan Liang’s campaign signs going up for re-election, she 
expressed her congratulation.  She hoped everyone would get along and show some courtesy.  

 
Joyce Batcheler, 760 E Road, expressed her concerns about the dump trucks driving through 
Loxahatchee Groves and how can it be determined which ones were legal and which ones were 
not. 

 
Bill Louda, 1300 E Road, spoke about the “Letter to the Editor” in last week’s Town Crier.  He 
commented that he did not leave the Roadway, Equestrian Trails and Advisory Committee 
(RETGAC) because of Nina Corning.  He also mentioned Councilman Goltzené had commented 
the Committee had done nothing while Mr. Louda and Mrs. Corning were members.  He 
proceeded to mention items that had been accomplished. 
   
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to Receive and File documents presented by 
Mr. Louda. Councilman Liang seconded the motion.  Upon vote, the motion passed 4/0. 

 
Phyllis Maniglia, 359 West D Road, spoke of the robbery at Boonies Restaurant and Lounge, and 
it had taken two (2) phone calls to the Sheriff’s Office before an officer came to investigate. 
 
 
4.  PRESENTATIONS  
 

a. Ms. Andrea Green, Loxahatchee Groves Elementary School’s PTO President would like 
to make a presentation concerning the School’s Annual Spring Carnival and Silent 
Auction on May 15, 2015.  
 

Andrea Green and Julian Hopkins, from the Loxahatchee Groves Elementary School PTO, spoke 
to Council in hopes of receiving a contribution for the School’s Annual Spring Carnival and 
Silent Auction. 

 
The discussion will be brought back to Council during the February 3, 2015, Council Meeting 
for a decision. 

24 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 20, 2015 

   Page 3 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/20/2014 
 

5.  COMMITTEE REPORTS  - NONE 
 
 
6.  RESOLUTIONS  
 

a. RESOLUTION NO. 2015-05:   (Loxahatchee Groves Commons Site Plan) 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, APPROVING THE LOXAHATCHEE GROVES COMMONS SITE 
PLAN, FOR LAND OWNED BY ERNEST G. SIMON, AS TRUSTEE OF TRUSTS “A” AND 
“B” U/W/O ALEXANDER ABRAHAM SIMON, CONSISTING OF 21.73 ACRES MORE OR 
LESS, LOCATED AT  THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SOUTHERN BOULEVARD AND 
“B” ROAD  LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, LEGALLY DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT 
“A” TO THIS RESOLUTION; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo stated these items are relating to B Road and Southern Boulevard.  The 
applicants had contacted the Town last Thursday (January 15, 2015), and there is additional work 
to be done.  Mr. Cirullo requested a motion to continue until a date certain of the February 17, 
2015, Town Council Meeting. 
 
Motion:  Councilman Liang moved to continue Resolution No. 2015-05 to a date certain of 
February 17, 2015.  Vice-Mayor Jarriel seconded the motion.  Upon vote, the motion 
passed 4/0. 
 

b. RESOLUTION NO. 2015-06:   (Black Baud Financial System Software) 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, APPROVING AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES AND BLACKBAUD, INC., FOR MUNICIPAL FINANCIAL 
SYSTEM SOFTWARE AS A SERVICE (SAAS); AUTHORIZING THE APPROPRIATE 
TOWN OFFICIALS TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT, 
SEVERABILITY, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Town Manager Underwood explained the negotiations and the agreement, and noted the Finance 
Advisory and Audit Committee (FAAC) approved the Black Baud System during their meeting. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo read the title of Resolution No. 2015-06. 

 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve Resolution No. 2015-06.  
Councilman Liang seconded the motion.  Discussion by Council.  Upon roll call vote, the 
motion passed 4/0. 

 
 

25 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 20, 2015 

   Page 4 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/20/2014 
 

c. RESOLUTION NO. 2015-07:   (Renewal of Local Mitigation Strategy Agreement) 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES APPROVING AND ADOPTING THE 2015 REVISED PALM BEACH COUNTY 
LOCAL MITIGATION STRATEGY PLAN; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo read the title of Resolution No. 2015-07. 

 
Motion: Councilman Liang made a motion to approve Resolution No. 2015-07.  
Councilman Rockett seconded the motion.  Discussion by Council.  Upon roll call vote, the 
motion passed 4/0.  

 
 
7.  ORDINANCES  
 
QUASI JUDICIAL ORDINANCES 
 

a. ORDINANCE NO. 2013-09:  QUASI JUDICIAL / PUBLIC HEARING 
SECOND AND FINAL READING  (Loxahatchee Groves Commons) 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR THE REZONING OF LAND CONSISTING OF 
APPROXIMATELY 21.73 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST 
CORNER OF SOUTHERN BOULEVARD AND “B” ROAD, LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 
FLORIDA, LEGALLY DESCRIBED AND AS DESIGNATED ON THE MAP ATTACHED 
AS EXHIBIT “A” TO THIS ORDINANCE, FROM LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ZONING 
DESIGNATION AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL (AR) TO THE  LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES ZONING DESIGNATION COMMERCIAL LOW PLANNED UNIT 
DEVELOPMENT (CL/PUD); PROVIDING FOR THE APPROPRIATE REVISIONS OF THE 
ZONING DISTRICT MAP; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo explained why Ordinance No. 2013-09 needed a continuation to a date 
certain of February 17, 2015.  
 
Motion:  Councilman Liang made a motion to continue Ordinance No. 2013-09 until the 
February 17, 2015 Town Council Meeting. Councilman Rockett seconded the motion.  
Upon vote, the motion passed 4/0. 
 
 

b. ORDINANCE NO. 2013-10: QUASI JUDICIAL / PUBLIC HEARING 
SECOND AND FINAL READING  (Loxahatchee Groves Town Center) 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR THE REZONING OF LAND CONSISTING OF 
APPROXIMATELY 90.33 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER OF SOUTHERN BOULEVARD AND “B” ROAD, LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 

26 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 20, 2015 

   Page 5 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/20/2014 
 

FLORIDA, LEGALLY DESCRIBED AND AS DESIGNATED ON THE MAP ATTACHED 
AS EXHIBIT “A” TO THIS ORDINANCE, FROM LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ZONING 
DESIGNATION AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL (AR) TO THE  LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES ZONING DESIGNATION  MULTIPLE LAND USE  PLANNED UNIT 
DEVELOPMENT (MLU/PUD); PROVIDING FOR THE APPROPRIATE REVISIONS OF 
THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo explained Ordinance No. 2013-10 and requested a continuance to a date 
certain of February 17, 2015.  
 
Motion:  Councilman Liang made a motion to continue Ordinance No. 2013-10 to a date 
certain of February 17, 2015.  Vice-Mayor Jarriel seconded the motion.  Upon vote the 
motion passed 4/0. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING ORDINANCES 
 

c. ORDINANCE NO. 2014-08:  PUBLIC HEARING/2ND FIRST READING 
(Okeechobee Boulevard Corridor Moratorium (Tabled At First Reading On 
12/02/2014). 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR A MORATORIUM UNTIL MAY 31, 2015, ON THE 
PROCESSING AND REVIEW OF APPLICATIONS FOR AMENDMENTS TO THE TOWN’S 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, INCLUDING FUTURE LAND USE MAP AMENDMENTS AND 
TEXT AMENDMENTS, RELATING TO COMMERCIAL LAND USES ON PROPERTIES 
FRONTING ON OKEECHOBEE BOULEVARD WITHIN THE CORPORATE BOUNDARIES 
OF THE TOWN AS OF DECEMBER 2, 2014; PROVIDING FOR EXEMPTIONS; PROVIDING 
FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo explained this is a Public Hearing, and then proceeded to read the title of 
Ordinance No. 2014-08. 
 
Mayor Browning explained the reasoning behind the moratorium. 
 
Motion:  Councilman Liang made a motion to approve Ordinance No. 2014-08 on 2nd First 
Reading.  Councilman Rockett seconded the motion.   
 
No discussion under the Public Hearing.  
 
Upon roll call vote the motion passed 4/0. 
 

 
 
 

27 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 20, 2015 

   Page 6 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/20/2014 
 

d. ORDINANCE NO 2015-01:  PUBLIC HEARING/FIRST READING   
(Wildlife) 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 
FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE  TOWN’S UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE; AMENDING 
PART I, ENTITLED “ADMINISTRATION AND DEFINITIONS,” ARTICLE 10 ENTITLED 
“DEFINITIONS, ABBREVIATIONS, AND CONSTRUCTION OF TERMS”, SECTION 10-
015, ENTITLED “DEFINITIONS,” TO AMEND THE DEFINITION OF WILDLIFE PETS, AND 
TO DELETE THE DEFINITION OF WILDLIFE PETS FROM PART II, ENTITLED “ZONING 
DISTRICTS,” ARTICLE 20 ENTITLED “RESIDENTIAL ZONING  DISTRICTS,” SECTION 
20-010, ENTITLED “GENERAL PROVISIONS”, SECTION (B), ENTITLED “ANIMALS 
AND LIVESTOCK”;  TO AMEND PART II, ENTITLED “ZONING DISTRICTS,” ARTICLE 
20 ENTITLED “RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS,” SECTION 20-015, ENTITLED 
“PERMITTED USES” AND PART II, ENTITLED “ZONING DISTRICTS,” ARTICLE 25 
ENTITLED “COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICTS,” SECTION 25-015, ENTITLED 
“PERMITTED USES,” AND PART II, ENTITLED “ZONING DISTRICTS,” ARTICLE 40 
ENTITLED “CONSERVATION DISTRICT,” SECTION 40-015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED 
USES” TO CLARIFY THAT AVICULTURE USE IN THE AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL 
ZONING DISTRICT, EXHIBITION OF WILDLIFE PETS IN THE COMMERCIAL AND 
COMMERCIAL LOW ZONING DISTRICTS, AND WILDLIFE OBSERVATION IN THE 
CONSERVATION DISTRICT ARE PERMITTED AS REGULATED BY STATE LAW; TO 
DELETE PART III, ENTITLED “SUPPLEMENTAL REGULATIONS,” ARTICLE 80 
ENTITLED “CONDITIONAL USES,” SECTION 80-045, ENTITLED “EXHIBITION OF 
CLASS I AND CLASS II WILDLIFE”, AND SECTION 80-050, ENTITLED 
“AVICULTURE”; PROVIDING FOR INTENT OF THE TOWN TO COMPLY WITH THE STATE’S 
PREEMPTIONS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING 
FOR CODIFICATION; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo explained Ordinance No. 2015-01 and then proceeded to read the title. 
 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve Ordinance No. 2015-01 on First Reading.  
Councilman Liang seconded the motion.  Upon roll call vote, the motion passed 4/0. 
 
Mayor Browning explained the Town cannot conflict with State Statutes, and cannot override them.   
 
No comments from the Public. 

 
  8.  MANAGER’S REPORT – Town Manager Underwood 

 
a. AGENDA ITEM REPORT (AIR) - Updates on various activities and issues concerning 

the Town. 
 
Town Manager Underwood reviewed items on his Manager’s Report.  

28 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 20, 2015 

   Page 7 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/20/2014 
 

b. Fire Rescue Annual Report, October 1, 2013 thru September 30, 2014. 
 
Council discussed various items of interest with Town Manager Underwood. 
 

 
9.  OLD BUSINESS – NONE 
 
 
10. NEW BUSINESS  
 

a. Consideration to provide a waiver to Damian Marrero and Wendy Pimentel to seek 
permit for trailer, septic and water while tree mitigation issues are being resolved.  
(requested by Mayor Browning) 
 

Town Manager Underwood explained the situation, and noted that he did not have authority to 
provide a waiver, and asked Council for direction. 

 
Council discussed alternatives to the situation. 

 
Motion:  Vice-Mayor Jarriel made a motion authorizing Staff to execute the proper 
documents allowing the owners to apply for temporary permits.  Councilman Rockett 
seconded the motion.   
 
Discussion by Council and members of the audience. 

 
Upon roll call vote, the motion passed 4/0. 

 
b. Consideration requesting a motion for Council to authorize Staff to prepare a resolution 

welcoming Commissioner Melissa McKinlay (District 6) to the Palm Beach County 
Board of County Commissioners, and a letter thanking Former Commissioner Jesse 
Santamaria for his services.  (requested by Vice-Mayor Jarriel) 

 
Motion:  Vice-Mayor Jarriel made a motion for Staff to draft a resolution welcoming Palm 
Beach County Commissioner Melissa McKinlay, and a thank you letter for Former Palm 
Beach County Commissioner Jess Santamaria.  Councilman Liang seconded the motion.  
Upon vote, the motion passed 4/0. 
 
 
11.  CLOSING COMMENTS 
 

a. Public 
 

Bill Louda, 1300 E Road, provided his comment concerning the Planning and Zoning Board 
(P&Z), and the Roadway, Equestrian Trails, and Greenway Advisory Committee (RETGAC). 
  

29 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, JANUARY 20, 2015 

   Page 8 of 8  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
01/20/2014 
 

Phyllis Maniglia, 359 W D Road, commented about a previous presentation she had made to 
Council and wanted the Finance Committee (FAAC) and the Town Manager to verify the 
invoices of the vendors she spoke about.  
 

b. Town Attorney   
Town Attorney Cirullo announced “Go Gators”. 
 

c. Town Council Members 
 
Vice-Mayor Jarriel thanked everyone for coming, and wished them to be safe going home.  
 
Councilman Liang made an apology to Council, and noted the adjournment time is going to 
make a record night.  He extended thanks to all. 
 
Councilman Rockett commented on needing a standard for speed humps.  He also requested 
Council be prepared to choose a substitute for road resurfacing. 
 
Council discussed with Town Manager Underwood various aspects concerning speed humps, 
and bringing the topic back for further discussion. 
 
 

12.  ADJOURNMENT  8:00 P.M 
 

There being no further business to come before Town Council, Mayor Browning adjourned the 
meeting at 8:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________  _______________________________ 
Janet K. Whipple, Town Clerk   David Browning, Mayor 
 
 
 
 

These minutes were approved during the April 7, 2015, Town Council Meeting. 

30 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 3, 2015 

   Page 1 of 7  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
02/03/2015 
 

  
Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

Town Council Meeting 
Tuesday, February 3, 2015 - 7:00 p.m. to 10:30 p.m. 

(Times established by Resolution No. 2014-08… commencing at 7:00 p.m., and ending no 
later than 10:30 p.m., which can be extended by motion of the Council.) 

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, 101 West “D” Road 
   

Mayor David Browning (Seat 4)            Town Manager William F. Underwood, II 
Vice-Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel (Seat 1)     Town Clerk Janet K. Whipple 
Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5)      Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo, Jr. 
Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3) 
Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 
 

MINUTES 
 

1. OPENING 
 

a. Call to Order & Roll Call 
 

 Mayor Browning called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  Present were Mayor David Browning, 
Vice-Mayor Ron Jarriel, Councilmen Tom Goltzené, Ryan Liang, and Jim Rockett.  Also present 
were Town Manager Bill Underwood, Town Attorney Mike Cirullo, and Town Clerk Janet K. 
Whipple. 

  
b. Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation – Mayor Browning 
 
c. Approval of Agenda 

 
Motion:  Councilman Liang made a motion to approve the Agenda, as presented.   
Councilman Goltzené seconded the motion. 
 
Vice-Mayor Jarriel requested that 6.a., Resolution No. 2015-10, welcoming Commissioner 
Melissa McKinlay be pulled until Council cam present the resolution to her personally.   
 
Town Manager Underwood noting per the Addendum to the Agenda, he would like to add under 
9.a. Old Business, the Central Palm Beach County Chamber of Commerce Land Purchase; and 
under 10.b. New Business, a correction in Resolution No. 2015-03 to change the reference to 

31 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 3, 2015 

   Page 2 of 7  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
02/03/2015 
 

Palm Beach County contemplating a delay of the State Road 7 Road Improvement, when in fact 
it was the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT).  
 
Councilmen Liang and Goltzene were acceptable with the changes.  Upon vote the motion 
to approve the Agenda, as amended, passed 5/0. 
 

 
2. CONSENT AGENDA  
 

a. Invoice from Goren, Cherof, Doody & Ezrol, P.A. 
 

b. Minutes: 
• November 18, 2014 Town Council Meeting 

 
Motion:  Councilman Liang made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented.  
Vice-Mayor Jarriel seconded the motion.  Upon vote, the motion passed 5/0. 
 
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 
Marge Herzog, 966 A Road, reported that a Candidate’s Forum will be held on February 26, 
2015, at the Palms West Presbyterian Church. 

 
Bill Louda, 1300 F Road, asked Council for help with the coyote problem in Loxahatchee 
Groves. 

 
Virginia Standish, 15410 North Road, and suggested that government entities should be held 
accountable.  She noted some of the OGEM roads resurfacing products are inferior, and it was 
the Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District’s (LGWCD) choice to use OGEM. Mrs. Standish 
mentioned Mrs. Snowball’s comments, and then announced her candidacy for Town Council. 

 
Keith Harris, 2580 C Road, stated he is also running for Town Council.  He provided some of his 
qualifications, and gave a political speech for his candidacy.  
 

 
4.  PRESENTATIONS – NONE 

 
 

5. COMMITTEE REPORTS   
 

a. Virginia Standish, Chair of the Finance Advisory and Audit Committee (FAAC) to 
present the Financial Report for November and December Fiscal Year 2015. 

 
Virginia Standish provided the Financial Report for November and December Fiscal Year 2015.   
 

32 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 3, 2015 

   Page 3 of 7  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
02/03/2015 
 

(Note:  After 7.b. on the Agenda, Councilman Rockett noted that a vote had not been taken on the 
Financial Report.  This following motion has been moved up to reflect the notation.) 
 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve the Financial Report for 
November and December Fiscal Year 2015.  Councilman Liang seconded the motion.  
Upon vote, the motion passed 5/0. 
 
 
6. RESOLUTIONS 

 
a. RESOLUTION NO 2015-10:  (Welcome to Commissioner Melissa 

McKinlay) 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA WELCOMING THE ELECTION OF COMMISSIONER MELISSA 
MCKINLAY AS COUNTY COMMISSIONER FOR DISTRICT 6; EXPRESSING THE TOWN 
COUNCIL’S OPTIMISM FOR WORKING WITH COMMISSIONER MCKINLAY FOR THE 
BENEFIT OF THE RESIDENTS OF THE TOWN; PROVIDING FOR DISTRIBUTION OF 
THIS RESOLUTION; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  (Requested by Vice-Mayor Jarriel during the 
January 20, 2015, Town Council Meeting). 

 
Resolution No. 2015-10 was pulled until Commissioner McKinlay can come to a Town Council 
Meeting where the resolution can be presented to her personally. 
 

 
7. ORDINANCES 

 
a. ORDINANCE NO. 2014-08:  PUBLIC HEARING/SECOND AND FINAL 

READING  (Okeechobee Boulevard Corridor Moratorium) 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR A MORATORIUM UNTIL MAY 31, 2015, ON THE 
PROCESSING AND REVIEW OF APPLICATIONS FOR AMENDMENTS TO THE TOWN’S 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, INCLUDING FUTURE LAND USE MAP AMENDMENTS AND 
TEXT AMENDMENTS, RELATING TO COMMERCIAL LAND USES ON PROPERTIES 
FRONTING ON OKEECHOBEE BOULEVARD WITHIN THE CORPORATE BOUNDARIES 
OF THE TOWN AS OF DECEMBER 2, 2014; PROVIDING FOR EXEMPTIONS; PROVIDING 
FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo read the title of Ordinance No. 2014-08. 
  
Motion:  Councilman Liang made a motion to approve Ordinance No. 2014-08 on Second and 
Final Reading.  Councilman Rockett seconded the motion.  Discussion. 

33 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 3, 2015 

   Page 4 of 7  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
02/03/2015 
 

 
Council discussed with Town Manager Underwood and Town Attorney Cirullo various 
components of the ordinance and the reason for the moratorium. 
 
Town Manager Underwood will bring a cost estimate to the next Town Council Meeting. 
 
Marge Herzog, 966 A Road, under public comments, asked about a park. 
 
Upon roll call vote, the motion passed 5/0. 
 
 

b. ORDINANCE NO. 2015-01:  PUBLIC HEARING/SECOND AND 
FINAL READING  (Wildlife) 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE  TOWN’S UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT 
CODE; AMENDING PART I, ENTITLED “ADMINISTRATION AND DEFINITIONS,” 
ARTICLE 10 ENTITLED “DEFINITIONS, ABBREVIATIONS, AND CONSTRUCTION OF 
TERMS”, SECTION 10-015, ENTITLED “DEFINITIONS,” TO AMEND THE DEFINITION 
OF WILDLIFE PETS, AND TO DELETE THE DEFINITION OF WILDLIFE PETS FROM 
PART II, ENTITLED “ZONING DISTRICTS,” ARTICLE 20 ENTITLED “RESIDENTIAL 
ZONING  DISTRICTS,” SECTION 20-010, ENTITLED “GENERAL PROVISIONS”, 
SECTION (B), ENTITLED “ANIMALS AND LIVESTOCK”;  TO AMEND PART II, 
ENTITLED “ZONING DISTRICTS,” ARTICLE 20 ENTITLED “RESIDENTIAL ZONING 
DISTRICTS,” SECTION 20-015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES” AND PART II, 
ENTITLED “ZONING DISTRICTS,” ARTICLE 25 ENTITLED “COMMERCIAL ZONING 
DISTRICTS,” SECTION 25-015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES,” AND PART II, 
ENTITLED “ZONING DISTRICTS,” ARTICLE 40 ENTITLED “CONSERVATION 
DISTRICT,” SECTION 40-015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES” TO CLARIFY THAT 
AVICULTURE USE IN THE AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICT, 
EXHIBITION OF WILDLIFE PETS IN THE COMMERCIAL AND COMMERCIAL LOW 
ZONING DISTRICTS, AND WILDLIFE OBSERVATION IN THE CONSERVATION 
DISTRICT ARE PERMITTED AS REGULATED BY STATE LAW; TO DELETE PART III, 
ENTITLED “SUPPLEMENTAL REGULATIONS,” ARTICLE 80 ENTITLED 
“CONDITIONAL USES,” SECTION 80-045, ENTITLED “EXHIBITION OF CLASS I AND 
CLASS II WILDLIFE”, AND SECTION 80-050, ENTITLED “AVICULTURE”; PROVIDING 
FOR INTENT OF THE TOWN TO COMPLY WITH THE STATE’S PREEMPTIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
CODIFICATION; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo read the title of Ordinance No. 2015-01. 
 

34 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 3, 2015 

   Page 5 of 7  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
02/03/2015 
 

Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve Ordinance No. 2015-01 on Second 
and Final Reading.  Councilman Liang seconded the motion.  No discussion by Council.  
Upon roll call vote, the motion passed 5/0. 
 
(Note: it was here that Councilman Rockett stated that a vote had not been taken on the 
Financial Report). 
 

8. MANAGER’S REPORT – Town Manager Underwood 
 

a.   Agenda Item Report (AIR) - Updates on various activities and issues concerning the 
Town. 
 
Town Manager Underwood updated and reported on the topics in his Manager Report.  
 
 

9.  OLD BUSINESS  
 

a. Authorization to take all actions necessary to acquire the Central Palm Beach County 
Chamber of Commerce land from Palm Beach County. 
 

Town Manager Underwood would like to ratify in the offer, on the Town’s behalf with the Palm 
Beach County Administrator, that the building will be a public service facility. 

 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion for the Town Manager to take actions 
necessary to ratify.  Councilman Liang seconded the motion.    

 
Members of the audience expressed their comments.  

 
Upon vote, the motion passed 5/0. 

 
Mayor Browning explained what had transpired during the Palm Beach County Board of County 
Commission (PBCBCC) Meeting this morning (February 3, 2015). 

 
Town Manager Underwood requested two items: (1) to conduct an environmental assessment; 
and $1,650 to pay for the assessment.  
  
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve, and to pay $1,650 for, an 
environmental assessment.  Vice-Mayor Jarriel seconded the motion.  Upon vote, the 
motion passed 5/0.  
 
Town Manager Underwood recommended to Council that the Town conduct its own survey. 

 

35 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 3, 2015 

   Page 6 of 7  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
02/03/2015 
 

Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion for Council approval to allow the Town to 
conduct the survey.  Councilman Liang seconded the motion.  Discussion by Council. 

 
Upon vote, the motion passed 3/2 passed, with Mayor Browning and Councilman Goltzené 
casting the dissenting votes.  

 
10.  NEW BUSINESS  
 

a. Appointment of new Planning and Zoning Board Member in light of the resignation of 
Board Member Keith Harris effective November 6, 2014. Appointment will be made by 
Councilman Ryan Liang.   

 
Town Manager Underwood provided background information. 
 
Motion:  Councilman Liang moved to recommend Planning and Zoning Alternate Board 
Member Veronica Close move up to sit as a Regular Planning and Zoning Board Member.  
Vice-Mayor Jarriel seconded the motion.  Upon vote, the motion passed 5/0. 

 
b. Discussion on change to Resolution No. 2015-03 in support of the State Road 7 extension 

between Okeechobee Boulevard and Northlake Boulevard to be constructed in Fiscal 
Year 2016.  Original Resolution stated that Palm Beach County was contemplating a 
delay when in fact it was the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT).  (Town 
Attorney Cirullo to explain.) 
 

Town Attorney Cirullo noted the correction would be changed in Resolution No. 2015-03 from 
Palm Beach County to the Florida Department of Transportation contemplating a delay.  

 
c. Consideration of approval for appreciation letter to be sent to Former Palm Beach County 

Commissioner Jess Santamaria, District 6.  (Requested by Vice-Mayor Jarriel during the 
January 20, 2015, Town Council Meeting.) 

 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve the appreciation letter to Former 
Palm Beach County Commissioner Jess Santamaria for his services during his tenure.  
Councilman Liang seconded the motion.  Upon vote, the motion passed 5/0. 
 
 
11.  CLOSING COMMENTS 
 

a. Public 
 

Bill Louda, 1300 F Road, questioned if non-seated candidates use the Town council Meeting as a 
forum, can council members do the same. 

 
Bill Kline, 3191 E Road, heard it thru the grapevine it was reported that he was unhappy with 
Council on the road issues.  Personally he would like to see the Town the way it was fifty (50) 
years ago.   

36 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 3, 2015 

   Page 7 of 7  
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
02/03/2015 
 

 
b. Town Attorney   

 
Town Attorney Cirullo stated “Go Gators”. 

 
c. Town Council Members 
 

Councilman Goltzené thanked everyone for coming and noted that coyotes were taking over. 
 

Vice-Mayor Jarriel thanked everyone for coming and also noted the coyotes were getting worse, 
and that Council needed to make contact with the proper State office to see what can be done.  
He welcomed Virginia Standish to the campaign trail. 
 
Councilman Liang thanked Town Manager Underwood for a short meeting tonight, and to wish 
Keith Harris luck on the campaign trail and wishes himself more. 

 
Councilman Rockett thanked everyone for coming. 

 
Mayor Browning Mayor mentioned the public comments, the coyote problem and the trailer 
parks matter.   Providing one suggestion for all the trailers would be to allow our code 
enforcement to investigate, if the trailers are visible, and then put the incident on the next 
agenda.  

 
 

12.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Town Council, Mayor Browning 
adjourned the meeting at 7:48 p.m. 

 
 
 
 

_____________________________________  _________________________________ 
Janet K. Whipple, Town Clerk    David Browning, Mayor 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

These minutes were approved during the April 7, 2015, Town Council Meeting. 

37 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

  

Item 5.a. 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Financials Ending February, Fiscal Year 2015  

38 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Transportation Fund Budget Year-to-Date %

FIRST LOCAL OPTION FUEL TAX (6 CENT) 250,858         82,752           33.0%
SECOND LOCAL OPTION FUEL (5 CENT) 117,768         39,242           33.3%
CONTRIBUTION FROM GENERAL FUND -                     -                    

TRANSFER FROM FUND BALANCE 412,423         -                       
Total Revenues 781,049       121,994         15.6%
OTHER SERVICES 75.02

TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNS (6 CT) MAINT. 10,000           4,082               40.8%
TOWN ROADS (6 CT) MAINT. 102,059         21,360             20.9%
DISTRICT ROADS (6 CT) MAINT. 93,738           1,951               2.1%
ROADS AND STREETS (5 CT) -                     -                

SPECIAL PROJECTS (6 CT) 60,000           -                   0.0%
148th TERR BRIDGE(5)/CULVERT  -                     -                
CONSTRUCTION TOWN RDS & STREETS -                     -                

TRANSFER TO CIP FUND 515,252 -                0.0%
Total Expenses 781,049       27,393           3.5%
Excess(deficiency) -                  94,601           
Solid Waste Fund Budget Year-to-Date %
SOLID WASTE ASSESSMENTS 431,846         345,872           80.1%
DISCOUNT FEES (11,660)          (13,309)            114.1%

Revenues Budget Year-to-Date % SWA RECYCLING INCOME 6,700             1,682               25.1%
AD VALOREM TAXES @ 1.2000 217,931            181,673          83.4% INTEREST -                 2,252               0.0%
ELECTRIC UTILITY TAX          203,000            81,515            40.2% CONTRIBUTION FROM GENERAL FUND 14382 -                   0.0%
COMMUNICATION SERVICES TAX    103,352            31,745            30.7% Total Revenues 441,268         336,497           76.3%
COUNTY OCCUPATIONAL LICENSES  5,000                5,005              100.1% CONTRACTUAL-WASTE OVERSIGHT          7,000             8,951               127.9%
FPL FRANCHISE FEE 185,000            56,569            30.6% PBC ADMINSTRATION FEE 1% 4,318             3,318               76.9%
HAULER LICENSE FEE -                        1,020              0.0% POSTAGE & FREIGHT 300                -                       0.0%
PBC WATER UTILITY FRANCHISE 5,050                2,604              51.6% SOLID WASTE CONTRACTOR 414,150         130,481           31.5%
PLANNING & ZONING PERMIT FEES 2,000                3,123              156.2% OTHER SANITATION SERVICES 15,000           1,500               0.0%
STATE REVENUE SHARING 90,689              33,088            36.5%  LEGAL ADVERTISING             500                -                       0.0%
HALF CENT SALES TAX 243,375            83,769            34.4% MANAGEMENT FEES -                     -                       
GENERAL GOVERNMENT CHARGES 4,000                1,606              40.2% Total Expenses 441,268         144,250           32.7%

COST RECOVERY FEES 35,000              35,383            101.1% Excess(deficiency) 192,247           
COURT FINES -                        Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Fund Budget Year-to-Date %

CODE ENFORCEMENT FINES 300                   709                 236.3% CONTRIBUTION FROM TRANSPORTATION FUND 555,252      -                   0.0%
INTEREST 200                   25                   12.5% TRANSFER FROM FUND BALANCE 0.0%

OTHER MISC. INCOME 1,000                0.0% Total Revenues 555,252         -                       0.0%
TRANSFER FROM  FUND BALANCE* 1,000,000         

Total Revenues 2,095,897       517,834          24.7% Develop Town Hall Alternatives -                  -                    -                
Surveying Town Roads 90,374           -                   0.0%

Expenditures Budget Year-to-Date % OGEM Collecting Canal Road -                 -                   0.0%
LEGISLATIVE       42,685              18,713            43.8% Okeechobee and D Road Traffic Light 290,944         -                   0.0%
EXECUTIVE 294,177            116,910          39.7% Drainage 25,000           -                   0.0%
FINANICAL AND ADMINSTRATIVE 33,670              8,383              24.9% Trails 120,000         -                   0.0%
LEGAL COUNSEL 90,000              28,738            31.9% D Road to Southern Blvd -                 -                   0.0%
COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING & ZONING 185,702            99,320            53.5% Purchase Roads from LGWCD 28,934           -                   -
OTHER GENERAL GOVERNMENT 1,152,079         74,084            6.4% 555,252         -                       0.0%
LAW ENFORCEMENT 293,584            119,632          40.7% Contract Services Expenditures
PUBLIC WORKS 4,000                736                 18.4% Expenditures Budget Year-to-Date %

Total Expenditures 2,095,897         466,516          22.3% Waste Pro 414,150         161,658           39.0%

Excess(deficiency) -                           51,318            Palm Beach County Sheriff 283,084         119,632           42.3%
Underwood Management Services Group* 350,355         151,660           43.3%
Goren, Cherof, Doody, Ezrol* 90,000           35,460             39.4%

YTD-Total Funds Expen. Budget Tew & Associates 35,000           1,710               4.9%
Land Research Management* 20,000           26,714             133.6%

Expenditures Budget Year-to-Date % Engineering Services** 210,000         19,861             9.5%
Total Townwide Budget 3,873,466         638,159          16.5% Frank Schiola 25,000           11,824             47.3%

YEE's Corporation 17,100           7,125               41.7%
Loxahatchee Water Control District 184,651 9,195               5.0%
Total Expenses 1,629,340       544,838            33.4%
* Totals include Cost Recovery charges that are in addition to Budget Amount for Vendor

Represents consumption of fund balance.  This is not true revenue by definition or reflected ** Keshavarez & Assoc.; A&B Engineering; Simmon & White
 in GL in transactions

42% of year elapsed)

Town of Loxahatchee Groves
Financial Activity Report as of  February 28, 2015

General Fund Revenue Budget Selected Other Funds

General Fund Revenues

General Fund Expenditures

AD VALOREM TAXES
FPL FRAN FEE

WATER FRAN FEE ELEC UTIL TAX

COMM SVCS TAX

STATE REV SHARE

1/2 SALES TAX

PBC\OCC BUS TAX

GEN GOVT 
CHARGES

COST RECOV FEES

CODE ENFORC 
FINES

PLAN ZON PERMIT 
FEES

INTEREST

OTH MISC INCOME

TRANS FR SANI 
FUND

 -  200,000  400,000  600,000  800,000  1,000,000

AD VALOREM TAXES
ELEC UTIL TAX

COMM SVCS TAX
PBC/OCC BUS TAX

FPL FRAN FEE
HAULER LIC FEE

WATER FRAN FEE
PLAN ZON PERM FEES

STATE REV SHARE
1/2 SALES TAX

GEN GOVT CHARGES
COST RECOV FEES

COURT FINES
CODE ENFORC FINES

INTEREST
OTHER MISC. INCOME
TRANS FR  FUND BAL

General Fund Revenue

Budget YTD

2015-01 FinActRep

39 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



42% Elapsed

Account Number Account Month to Date Year to Date Encumbrance Annual Budget Annual Variance % Used

001-311-100-000 Ad Valorem Taxes 14,368                 181,673         -                  217,931                 (36,258)                    83%
Ad Valorem Taxes Subtotal 14,368                 181,673         217,931                 (36,258)                    83%

001-314-100-000 Electric Utility Tax 18,491                 81,515           -                  203,000                 (121,485)                  40%
001-315-100-000 Communications Services 7,979                   31,745           -                  103,352                 (71,607)                    31%
001-316-200-000 County Occupational License 263                      5,005             -                  5,000                     5                               100%

Local Taxes Subtotal 26,734                 118,265         -                  311,352                 (193,088)                  38%

001-323-100-000 FPL Franchise Fee -                       56,569           -                  185,000                 (128,431)                  31%
001-323-125-000 Haulers License Fee -                       1,020             -                  -                         1,020                        NA
001-323-300-000 PBC Water Utility Franchise 519                      2,604             -                  5,050                     (2,446)                       52%
001-329-100-000 Planning & Zoning Permit 692                      3,123             -                  2,000                     1,123                        156%

Permits, Franchise Fees & Special Subtotal 1,211                   63,315           -                  192,050                 (128,735)                  33%

001-335-120-000 State Revenue Sharing 6,618                   33,088           -                  90,689                   (57,601)                    36%
001-335-180-000 Half Cent Sales Tax 24,545                 83,769           -                  243,375                 (159,606)                  34%

Intergovernmentall Revenue Subtotal 31,163                 116,857         334,064                 (217,207)                  35%

001-341-000-000 General Government Charges 505                      1,606             -                  4,000                     (2,395)                       40%
001-343-349-000 Cost Recovery Fees 8,669                   35,383           -                  35,000                   383                           101%

Charges for Services Subtotal 9,174                   36,988           -                  39,000                   (2,012)                       95%

001-351-100-000 Court Fines -                       -                 -                  -                         -                            
001-354-100-000 Code Enforcement Fines -                       709                -                  300                        409                           236%

Code Enforcement Fines Subtotal -                       709                -                  300                        409                           236%

001-361-100-000 Interest 7                          25                  -                  200                        (175)                          13%
001-369-000-000 Other Misc Income -                       -                 -                  1,000                     (1,000)                       0%

Other Misc Revenue Subtotal 7                          25                  -                  1,200                     (1,175)                       2%

001-381-305-000 Transfer from CIP Fund -                       -                 -                  1,000,000              (1,000,000)               0%
001-399-000-000 Transfer from Fund Balance* -                       -                 -                  -                         -                            0%

Other Non-operating Sources Subotal -                       -                 1,000,000              -                            0%

Grand Total Revenue 82,657                 517,832         -                  2,095,897              (578,065)                  25%

 
 BUDGET VS ACTUAL

AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2015

General Fund
Revenues

UMSG,LLC
Page 1 of 6

Corrected: 3/31/2015

40 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



42% Elapsed

Account Number Account Month to Date Year to Date Encumbrance Annual Budget Annual Variance % Used

001-511-310-000 Professional Services -                       -                 -                  650                        650                           0%
001-511-400-000 Travel -                       -                 -                  3,000                     3,000                        0%
001-511-492-000 Other Operating Expenses -                       1,260             -                  1,500                     240                           84%
001-511-499-000 Other Current Charges - Council Reimbursement 2,500                   15,000           -                  30,000                   15,000                      50%
001-511-500-000 Education & Training -                       -                 -                  1,000                     1,000                        0%
001-511-510-000 Office Supplies -                       -                 -                  300                        300                           0%
001-511-520-000 Operating Supplies -                       -                 -                  300                        300                           0%
001-511-540-000 Books, Publications & Subscriptions -                       1,635             -                  1,935                     300                           85%
001-511-820-000 Special Events/Contributions -                       818                -                  4,000                     3,182                        20%

Legislative Total 2,500                   18,713           -                  42,685                   23,972                      44%

001-512-340-000 Other Services 22,471                 112,355         -                  269,653                 157,298                    42%
001-512-400-000 Travel 70                        96                  -                  1,500                     1,404                        6%
001-512-420-000 Postage & Freight - NEW 62                        180                -                  1,000                     820                           18%
001-512-490-000 Legal Advertising -                       -                 -                  500                        500                           0%
001-512-492-000 Other Operating Expenses -                       2                    -                  944                        942                           0%
001-512-493-000 Election Expense 240                      986                -                  8,010                     7,024                        12%
001-512-510-000 Office Supplies 862                      3,279             -                  12,000                   8,721                        27%
001-512-540-000 Books, Publications & Subscriptions -                       11                  -                  570                        559                           2%

Executive Total 23,706                 116,910         -                  294,177                 177,267                    40%

001-513-320-000 Accounting and Auditing -                       2,500             -                  18,000                   15,500                      14%
001-513-470-000 Printing and Binding -                       -                 -                  1,751                     1,751                        0%
001-513-490-000 Legal Advertising -                       -                 -                  2,000                     2,000                        0%
001-513-491-000 Computer Services 5,883                   5,883             -                  11,919                   6,036                        49%

Financial & Administrative Total 5,883                   8,383             -                  33,670                   25,287                      25%

001-514-310-000 Professional Services 8,988                   28,738           -                  90,000                   61,262                      32%
Legal Total 8,988                   28,738           -                  90,000                   61,262                      32%

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
 BUDGET VS ACTUAL

AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2015

General Fund
Expenditures

UMSG,LLC
Page 2 of 6

Corrected: 3/31/2015

41 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



42% Elapsed

Account Number Account Month to Date Year to Date Encumbrance Annual Budget Annual Variance % Used

001-515-310-000 Professional Services 2,535                   14,107.50$   -                  40,000                   25,893                      35%
001-515-340-000 Other Services 6,725                   33,625.85$   -                  80,702                   47,076                      42%
001-515-343-000 Planning & Zoning Contract 325                      2,425.00$     -                  20,000                   17,575                      12%
001-515-349-000 Cost Recovery Expenditure 9,272                   43,860.83$   -                  35,000                   (8,861)                       125%
001-515-490-000 Legal Advertising - NEW 2,800                   5,300.80$     -                  10,000                   4,699                        53%

Comprehensive Planning & Zoning Total 21,657                 99,320           -                  185,702                 86,382                      53%

001-519-315-000 Special Magistrate -                       1,980             -                  16,000                   14,020                      12%
001-519-354-000 Code Compliance 1,763                   12,038           -                  38,000                   25,963                      32%
001-519-410-000 Communications Services 693                      2,184             -                  6,100                     3,916                        36%
001-519-440-000 Rentals and Leases 1,806                   9,021             -                  34,783                   25,762                      26%
001-519-450-000 Insurance 2,740                   2,740             -                  18,000                   15,260                      15%
001-519-460-000 Repair & Maint - Building 300                      1,800             -                  3,600                     1,800                        50%
001-519-490-000 Computer Repair 74                        822                -                  5,500                     4,678                        15%
001-519-491-000 Computer Services 1,047                   1,639             -                  7,292                     5,653                        22%
001-519-494-000 Inspector General Office -                       -                 -                  5,280                     5,280                        0%
001-519-610-000 Land Acquisition 1,650                   1,650             -                         (1,650)                       NA
001-519-620-000 Chamber of Commerce Property 40,000                 40,000           -                         (40,000)                    NA
001-519-820-000 Loxahatchee Groves CERT -                       210                -                  2,000                     1,790                        11%
001-519-990-000 Contingency -                       -                 -                  15,524                   15,524                      0%
001-519-998-000 Transfer To Fund Balance -                       -                 -                  1,000,000              1,000,000                 0%

Other Governmental Services Total 50,073                 74,084           -                  1,152,079              1,077,995                 6%

001-521-341-000 Professional Services-PBSO 25,270                 119,632         -                  283,084                 163,452                    42%
001-521-342-000 Contractual-ADDL PBSO -                       -                 -                  10,500                   10,500                      0%

Law Enforcement Total 25,270                 119,632         -                  293,584                 173,952                    41%

001-539-310-000 Other Services -                       -                 -                  -                         -                            
001-539-340-000 Professional Services 26                        736                -                  4,000                     3,264                        18%

Public Works Total 26                        736                -                  4,000                     3,264                        18%

Grand Total Expenditure 138,103               466,516         -                  2,095,897              1,629,381                 22%

Net Revenue (55,446)                51,316           2,095,897              

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
 BUDGET VS ACTUAL

AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2015

General Fund
Expenditures

UMSG,LLC
Page 3 of 6

Corrected: 3/31/2015

42 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



42% Elapsed

Account Number Account Month to Date Year to Date Encumbrance Annual Budget Annual Variance % Used

101-312-410-000 1st Local Option Fuel Tax (1 to 6 cent) 21,411                 82,752           -                  250,858                 168,106                    33%
101-312-420-000 2nd Local Option Fuel Tax (1 to 5 cent) 10,031                 39,242           -                  117,768                 78,526                      33%
101-399-000-000 Transfer from Fund Balance -                       -                 -                  412,423                 412,423                    0%

Total Revenue 31,441                 121,994         781,049                 659,055                    16%
Represents consumption of fund balance.  This is not true revenue by definition or reflected in GL in transactions

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

101-539-340-000 Other Services -                       75                  
101-541-467-000 Traffic Control Signs (6 ct) Maint. -                       4,082             -                  10,000                   5,918                        41%
101-541-468-000 Non-District Roads (6 ct) Maint. 420                      21,360           -                  102,059                 80,699                      21%
101-541-469-000 District Roads (6 ct) Maint. -                       1,951             -                  93,738                   91,787                      2%
101-541-632-000 Special Projects (6 cent) -                       -                 -                  60,000                   60,000                      0%
101-541-920-000 Transfer to Capital Projects -                       -                 -                  515,252                 515,252                    0%

Total Expenditure 420                      27,467           -                  781,049                 753,582                    4%

Net Revenue 31,021                 94,527           -                         

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
 BUDGET VS ACTUAL

AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2015

Transportation Fund
Revenues

Transportation Fund
Expenditures

UMSG,LLC
Page 4 of 6

Corrected: 3/31/2015

43 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



42% Elapsed

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

305-363-991-000 Contributions from Transportation Fund -                       -                 -                  555,252                 (555,252)                  0%
305-399-000-000 Transfer from Fund Balance -                       -                 -                  1,000,000              (1,000,000)               0%

Total Revenue -                       -                 -                  1,555,252              (1,555,252)               0%

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

305-541-610-000 Surveying Town Roads -                       -                 -                  90,374                   90,374                      0%
305-541-630-000 Okeechobee and D Road Traffic Light -                       -                 -                  290,944                 290,944                    0%
305-541-640-000 Town Roads OGEM Projects -                       -                 -                  25,000                   25,000                      0%
305-541-650-000 Trails -                       -                 -                  120,000                 120,000                    0%
305-541-654-000 Purchase Roads from LGWCD -                       -                 -                  28,934                   28,934                      0%
305-581-001-000 Interfund Transfer Out To GF -                     -               -                 1,000,000            1,000,000               0%

Total Expenditure -                       -                 -                  1,555,252              1,555,252                 0%

Net Revenue -                       -                 -                         

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
 BUDGET VS ACTUAL

AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2015

Capital Improvement Program
Revenues

Capital Improvement Program
Expenditures

UMSG,LLC
Page 5 of 6

Corrected: 3/31/2015

44 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



42% Elapsed

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

405-325-205-000 Solid Waste Assessments 21,705                 345,872         -                  431,846                 85,974                      80%
405-325-206-000 Discount Fees (506)                     (13,309)         -                  (11,660)                  1,649                        114%
405-343-120-000 SWA Recycling Income -                       1,682             -                  6,700                     5,018                        25%
405-361-100-000 Interest -                       2,252             -                  -                         (2,252)                       NA
405-363-990-000 Contributions from General Fund -                       -                 -                  14,382                   14,382                      0%

Total Revenue 21,199                 336,497         -                  441,268                 104,771                    76%

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

405-534-345-000 Contractual - Waste Over 1,890                   8,951             -                  7,000                     (1,951)                       128%
405-534-346-000 PBC Administration Fee 1 209                      3,318             -                  4,318                     1,000                        77%
405-534-420-000 Postage & Freight -                       -                 -                  300                        300                           0%
405-534-434-000 Solid Waste Contractor 31,613                 130,481         -                  414,150                 283,669                    32%
405-534-436-000 Other Sanitation Service -                       1,500             -                  15,000                   13,500                      10%
405-534-490-000 Legal Advertising -                       -                 -                  500                        500                           0%

Total Expenditure 33,711                 144,250         -                  441,268                 297,018                    33%

Net Revenue (12,512)                192,247         -                         

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
 BUDGET VS ACTUAL

AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2015

Solid Waste Fund
Revenues

Note:  YTD Fines credited to Service Provider invoicing - $8100.00

UMSG,LLC
Page 6 of 6

Corrected: 3/31/2015

45 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

  

Item 6.a. 

RESOLUTIONS 

Resolution No. 2015-09 

Big Dog Ranch 

Quasi-Judicial/Public Hearing 

 

46 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Town of Loxahatchee Groves, FLORIDA 
Town Council AGENDA ITEM REPORT 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.a. 
MEETING DATE: February 17, 2015  April 7, 2015 

PREPARED BY:   Jim Fleishmann, Planner  
 

 

SUBJECT:  Proposed Special Exception and Site Plan SP 2014-01 Approval for Big Dog Ranch 
  
1.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY  
  

  

Problem Statement:  The applicant has requested Special Exception and Site Plan approval for Big 
Dog Ranch  on a acre property located at the southeast corner of Okeechobee Boulevard and “D” Road.  

Problem Solution:  Consider approval of Resolution 2015-09, including the Conditions of 
Approval . 

The Future Land Use Designation of the Property is Rural Residential 5 (RR 5) and the zoning 
designation is Agricultural Residential (AR).  Rescued Animal Care Facilities are permitted uses in the  
AR District, subject to receiving Special Exception approval and compliance with Section 80-60 
(Conditional Use criteria for Rescued Animal Care Facilities). 

 Big Dog Rescue is a non-profit 501(c) (3) corporation which intends to develop a no-kill facility to 
accept adoptable dogs from high-kill shelters throughout the southeast United States.  Dogs will be 
rehabilitated, medically treated and sheltered until they are adopted, or permanently sheltered on-site due 
to age.  The facility will also accept dogs directly from owners who can no longer care for them and 
offer emergency care services to the community at large.  

The facility is to be developed on 33.16 acres in phases, with a 9.78 acre portion designated for future 
development. Development of this area will require a future Site Plan Amendment application.   In total, 
the current Site Plan application represents 23.38 acres.  

2.  

CURRENT ACTIVITY  
The PZB at its meeting on January 22, 2015 discussed  application SP 2014-01 and recommended 
approval by a  5 – 0 vote subject to the following additions/revisions to the Conditions of Approval: 

1.  The location of 0.99 acres of Preserve Area shall be identified on the Final Site Plan and included in 
the Phase 1 improvements. 

2.  A continuous solid opaque hedge, a minimum 4-feet high at installation, shall be required around the 
perimeter of the entire 33.16 acre property.  All hedging shall be included as part of the Phase 1 
improvements and permanently maintained at a height of 6-feet.    

3.  A minimum 6-foot high vinyl chain-link fence enclosing Phase 1, 2 and 3 facilities shall be included 
as part of the Phase 1 improvements.   

4,  The swing gates along D Road shall be located a minimum of 35 feet from the western property line 
3 ATTACHMENTS  
   1.  Staff Report Special Exception and SP Application 2014-01 
   2.  Resolution 2015-09 

47 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
4.  FINANCIAL IMPACT  
    Application SP 2014-01 is funded by the Applicant through the Town’s Cost Recovery System. 
   
5.  RECOMMENDED ACTION  
  
  Postpone Resolution 2015-09 to a date certain of April 21, 2015.   

48 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
April 2, 2015 
 
Mr. Jim Fleischmann 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves 
14579 Southern Blvd. Suite 2 
Loxahatchee Groves, FL  33470 
 
 
RE: Big Dog Ranch Rescue (SP 2014-01) Special Exception/Site Plan Review – Postponement Request 
 
Dear Mr. Fleischmann, 
 
On behalf of the Applicant, Wantman Group, Inc. is respectfully requesting a postponement of the Big Dog Ranch 
Rescue Special Exception and Site Plan Review Application(s) to the April 21, 2015 Town Council Hearing. We are 
requesting the postponement, in order to provide additional time to work with Town Staff to solidify the Conditions of 
Approval for the project, based on the outcome from recent public meetings. 
 
We appreciate all of your assistance with this project, and look forward to continuing to work with the Town on this 
project. If you have any questions, please don’t hesitate to contact me at 561.537.4507. 
 
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
WANTMAN GROUP, INC. 
 

 
 
Jeff Brophy, RLA, ASLA 
VP, Land Development 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
49 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 1 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
TOWN COUNCIL  

February 17, 2015 
April 7, 2015 

 
Staff Summary:  Big Dog Ranch Special Exception and Site Plan Review 

 
A.  Site and Applicant Information 
 
Project Name Big Dog Ranch  Special Exception and Site Plan Approvals 
Project No.  SP 2014-01 
Agent Lindsay Libbes, Land Design South 
Applicant Big Dog Ranch Rescue, Inc. 
Owner TLH 25 Villa, LLC 
 
Parcel Control No. 

41-41-43-17-01-411-0010 (1930 “D” Road); and  41-41-43-17-01-
409-0010 (1810 “D” Road) 

Location Southeast corner of Okeechobee Boulevard and “D” Road 
Size (Acreage) 33.16  acres 
Zoning AR Agricultural Residential  
Future Land Use Rural Residential 5 (RR 5) 
Existing Use Vacant/undeveloped 
Approved Use No prior approvals 
 
Proposed Use 

Rescued Animal Care (Permitted Use subject to Section 80-60 of 
the ULDC and  Special Exception Approval) 

 
B.  Adjacent Properties (Existing Use, Future Land Use and Zoning) 
 

Land Use North South East West 
 
 
Existing Use 

Okeechobee 
Blvd. followed 
by a tree 
nursery and 
vacant land 

Landscape 
maintenance 
business 

Palm Beach 
County Fire 
Rescue Station 
(R-75-530) and 2 
residential lots 

“D” Road 
followed by a 
tree nursery 
and vacant land 

Future Land 
Use 

RR 5 (Rural 
Residential 5) 

RR 5 (Rural 
Residential 5) 

RR 5 (Rural 
Residential 5) 

RR 5 (Rural 
Residential 5) 

 
Zoning 

AR (Agricultural 
Residential) 

AR 
(Agricultural 
Residential) 

AR (Agricultural 
Residential) 

AR (Agricultural 
Residential) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 2 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
C.  Submitted Support Documents 
 

Item Content 
Final Site Plan Rescued Animal Care Facility; dated 12/30/2014 
Justification Statement Project description, and justifications for Special 

Exception and Site Plan Approvals; dated 12/30/2014 
Architectural Plans/Elevations Elevations and floor plans for the following:  Main 

Visitor Building; Vet Building; Adoptable Dog House 
Building; Quarantine Building; and Maintenance 
Building. 

Landscape and Tree Removal 
and Transplant  Plans 

Phases 1 - 3 plan, including tree inventory 

Drainage Statement Description of storm water system and legal positive 
outfall 

Photometric Plan Not Included 
Traffic Statement Consultant TPS evaluation; updated 11/26/2104 
Environmental Assessment Ecosystems descriptions, listed species and soils and 

conclusions; 8/12/2014 
Conceptual Engineering Plan On and off-site central water and sewer service plan; ; 

12/20/2014 
 
D.  Narrative Information 
 
 1.  Property History 
 
 The 33.16 acre property, located at the southeast corner of Okeechobee 
Boulevard and “D” Road in Loxahatchee Groves, consists of two parcels (20 acres and 
13.16 acres respectively) that were jointly purchased in February 2014.  Although the 
parcels currently have Single Family Use Code designations by the Palm Beach County 
Property Appraiser, they historically contained a tree nursery.  Many of the trees remain 
on-site and most will be used for landscaping in the proposed Big Dog Ranch 
development.  A vacated single-family home and nursery-related structures remain on 
the property.  These structures will be demolished during construction of the Big Dog 
Ranch facility. 
 
 2.  Summary of Request  
 
 The Big Dog Ranch no-kill rescued animal care facility is to be developed on 
33.16 acres in three phases, with a portion of Phase III (9.78 acres) designated for future 
development, as illustrated on the attached Final Site Plan.  Final Site Plan approval for 
Phases 1 (13.07 acres), 2 (4.79 acres) and a portion of Phase 3 (5.52 acres) is currently 
proposed.  Development of the balance of Phase 3 (9.78 acres) will require a future Site 
Plan Amendment application.   In total, the current Site Plan application represents 
23.38 acres.  
 

Big Dog Rescue is a non-profit 501(c) (3) corporation which intends to develop 
the facility for the purpose of accepting adoptable dogs from high-kill shelters throughout 
the southeast United States.  Once accepted, dogs will be rehabilitated and medically 

51 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 3 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

treated and sheltered until they are adopted, or permanently sheltered on-site due to 
age.  The facility will also accept dogs directly from owners who can no longer care for 
them and offer emergency care services to the community at large. The proposed Final 
Site Plan is presented in Exhibit “A”.  The following descriptions summarize each of the 
proposed development phases: 
 
Phase 1 (13.07 acres) –   31,388 sq. ft., including the following facilities:   

• Main Visitor Center (4,500 sq. ft.):  Reception area for visitors and administrative 
offices. 

• Veterinary Clinic (4,000 sq. ft.):  Medical treatment facility, including surgery, 
spay/neuter and vaccinations, including evening and weekend emergency care 
services to local households. 

• Animal Housing (14,592 sq. ft.):  Main housing facility consisting of 4 wings with a 
central covered pavilion.  Daily care is provided for approximately 250 dogs and 
50 puppies, including feeding, cleaning and exercise.  Each wing has its own 
fenced area and serves dogs by size (small. Medium and large).  

• Puppy Land (1,848sq. ft.):  Ten 168 sq. ft. building pods to house pregnant 
and/or nursing females and their puppies and a 168 sq. ft. support building.    
Each pod has a fenced area for exercise. 

• Caretaker House (2,720 sq. ft.):  Home for a live-in on-site facility manager. 

• Intake Building (2,728 sq. ft.):  All dogs are initially quarantined and screened and 
treated as necessary in this building to ensure that they are fit to be moved to 
other on-site facilities. 

• Maintenance Building (1,000 sq. ft.):  Houses tools, equipment and maintenance 
supplies. 

• Other Phase 1 Facilities:  A 1.50 acre retention lake and two fenced areas (agility 
course and play pool). 

Phase 2 (4.79 acres) –   15,528 sq. ft., including the following facilities:   
• Weimaraner World (4,024 sq. ft.): Specialized care and housing for the 

Weimaraner or other breeds that suffer from separation anxiety. 

• Senior Sanctuary (3,142 sq. ft.): Housing, including four fenced areas, of senior 
dogs that are too old for adoption or have medical issues preventing adoption. 

• Mausoleum/Sanctuary (862 sq. ft.) 

• Other Phase 2 Facilities (7,500 sq. ft.): Open covered Education Pavilion to be 
used for educational classes for school-age children, dog training classes and 
fund-raising events, and a play pool. 

Phase 3 (5.52 acre portion) –   7,930 sq. ft. 
• Boarding/Housing Building (7,930 sq. ft.):  Housing of guest dogs that need to be 

boarded, including four fenced areas. 

52 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 4 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

• Other Phase 3 Facilities:  Fenced play pool. 

 
E.  Staff Finding and Recommendation  
 

Staff finds the proposed Final Site Plan consistent with the Town’s 
Comprehensive Plan, ULDC zoning requirements and Conditional Use, Special 
Exception and Site Plan criteria and recommends approval of Special Exception and 
Site Plan Approval Application 2014-01.  
 
F.  Planning and Zoning Board (P&ZB) Recommendation:  At its January 22, 
2015 meeting, P&ZB voted to recommend approval, subject to several 
Conditions of Approval revisions, by a 5 – 0 vote.  Recommended revisions have 
been included in the proposed Conditions of Approval (Ref:  Attachment B). 
 
G.  Staff Review Summary 
 

1.  Adjacent Land Uses  
Direction Uses Potential Issues 
North Okeechobee Blvd (110’ R.O.W.) followed by a 

tree nursery and vacant land 
Noise.  Addressed in Conditions of 
Approval 

South Landscape maintenance business Noise.  Addressed in Conditions of 
Approval 

East Palm Beach County Fire Rescue Station (R-75-
530) and 2 residential lots 

Noise.  Addressed in Conditions of 
Approval 

West “D” Road (60’ R.O.W.) followed by followed by a 
tree nursery and vacant land 

Noise.  Addressed in Conditions of 
Approval 

 
2.  Infrastructure Impacts  

Infrastructure Service Summary 
Water/wastewater Property can be served by County central water/wastewater along 

Okeechobee Boulevard. Letter from County provided indicating water, 
water reuse water and wastewater lines adjacent to property.  
Reclaimed Water Development Agreement will be required to reserve 
capacity for irrigation.  A Conceptual Engineering Plan has been 
provided indicating tie-in locations to the existing wastewater force 
main and potable water main on Okeechobee Boulevard and the on-
site collection and distribution systems. 

Surface Water 
Management 

Drainage Statement provided. On-site storm water will be collected in 
a system of catch basins, storm drainage pipe and swales directed to 
the existing on-site lake to be used for water quality, retention and 
detention.  Legal positive outfall provided by discharge into the 
existing “D” Road Canal. Storm drain system indicated on Conceptual 
Engineering Plan 

Solid Waste Disposal Solid Waste Authority letter confirms disposal capacity available.  
Applicant must execute contract with private hauler for collection. 

 
Transportation 

Traffic Statement Provided. The Applicant’s Traffic Engineer has 
concluded that less than 19 peak-hour trips will be generated 
therefore complying with the PBC TPS Ordinance. 

Parks and Recreation Not Applicable – Commercial land use and zoning 
Public Schools Not Applicable – Commercial land use and zoning 

53 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 5 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

FIRE/EMS Letter from Palm Beach County Fire/Rescue indicating an estimated 
response time less than the average for the nearest station. 

 
3.    Environment 

Item Summary 
 
Natural Resources 

The applicant has submitted an Environmental Assessment and Phase 1 
Environmental Assessment for the area encompassing Phases 1 and 2 of 
the property. No native upland habitats are identified, although some native 
trees will be removed or relocated.  No wetlands are identified.  Two ponds 
are located on-site, likely classified as Other Surface Waters by SFWMD 
and Waters of the State by the USA Corps of Engineers (COE). Filling of a 
pond could require COE permit.  No listed protected species were 
witnessed during a site visit.   The Phase 1 concluded no evidence of:  (1) 
the release of hazardous wastes from current or past activities; or (2) 
environmental concerns from on-site activities. 

Historical 
Resources 

According to Staff records there are no historical or cultural resources on 
the property listed on the Florida Master Site File or the National Register of 
Historical Places. 

Flood Zone Zone X-500, per Map # FLU 1.5 of the Comprehensive Plan.  Zone X-500 is 
generally the area between the limits of the 100-year and 500-year flood. 

 

4.    Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Consistency  
 
 Proposed SP 14-1 is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
 

• The current Future Land Use Map designation of the property is Rural 
Residential 5 and no change is proposed 

 
• The current Zoning Map designation of the property is Agricultural Residential 

(AR) and no change is proposed.  
 

• The proposed rescued animal care facility is a permitted use within the AR 
zoning district subject to meeting the conditions of Article 80 (i.e. Section 80-60 
Rescued Animal Care) and receiving Special Exception approval, per Article 170 
of the ULDC. 

 
5.    Zoning Requirements: AR Zoning District Regulations 
Regulation Standard Property Complies? 

Minimum lot size 10  acres  - ULDC Section 80-060(A) Yes – 33.16 acres 
 
Frontage and Access 

ULDC Section 100-35: legal access 
from a publically dedicated street 

Yes – Proposed access 
to Okeechobee Blvd. 
and “D” Road 

Minimum frontage/width  200  feet Yes – 1,293 ft. on 
Okeechobee Blvd. 

Minimum depth 200 feet Yes -  1,114 feet 
Maximum Floor-Area-Ratio 0.15 Yes (Phases 1, 2 and 3 

(portion) 54,846 sq. ft. 
on 23.38 acres = 0.054 
F.A.R. 

 

54 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 6 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
 

Regulation (continued) Standard Property Complies? 
Maximum building and 
roofed structures lot 
coverage 

 
15% 

Yes – 5.4% (Same as 
F.A.R.) 

Front setback 100 feet Yes – 122 feet 
Side setback 50 feet Yes –  200  feet 
Side street setback 80 feet Yes – 124 feet 
Rear setback 50 feet Yes – 85 feet 
Minimum pervious area 70% Yes – 85% 
Maximum building height 35 feet Yes – 35 feet 

 
6.    ULDC Section 80-60 Conditional Use Criteria 

 
 A rescued animal care petition must comply with the following Rescued 
Animal Care facility Conditional Use criteria: 

 
Criterion Compliance 

Section 80-060 (A) Minimum plot size of 10 acres Phases 1, 2 and 3 (portion 
comprise 23.38 acres. Total 
site is 33.16 acres 

Section 80-060 (B)(1) Veterinary services and dog 
boarding as accessory uses may be provided by a 
licensed veterinarian for adopted or previously 
adopted animals. 

 
Condition of Approval 
 

Section 80-060 (B)(2) Veterinary services and dog 
boarding as accessory uses may be provided by a 
licensed veterinarian to the public provided that the 
facility is located on and has access to an Urban 
Collector or Arterial Roadway. 

 
Location on Okeechobee 
Blvd., an Urban Collector.  
Access to Okeechobee Blvd. 
provided 
 

Section 80-60 © A facility may include an accessory 
caretaker’s single-family unit.  

Includes an accessory 
caretaker unit 

Section 80-060 (D) shall comply with the following 
waste disposal standards:  (1) PBC ECR 1 and ECR 
2 and rules of FDEP, PBCHD and PBCSWA. 

 
Condition of Approval 

Section 80-060 (E) the number of dogs  based upon 
square footage of the facility and PBC Animal 
Control Center regulations and indicated as a 
condition of approval of the Special Exception 

 
Condition of Approval 

Section 80-060 (F) Outdoor animal runs shall be 
located a minimum of 200 feet from a directly 
abutting residential zoning district, be hard surfaced 
or grassed with drains every 10 feet and be 
connected to a central or individual sanitary facility 
approved by the PBCHD 

 
Fenced Dog Runs in Phases 1 
and 3 a minimum of 200 feet 
from any AR district. 

 
 

55 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 7 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
 

Criterion (continued) Compliance 
Section 80-060 (F) A minimum 6-foot high chain-link 
fence, including a continuous solid opaque hedge a 
minimum 4-feet high shall be required around 
outdoor runs. 

 
Condition of Approval 

Section 80-060 (F) Outdoor runs shall not be used 
earlier than 7:00 a.m. or later than 8:00 p.m. seven 
days per week 

Condition of Approval 

Section 80-060 (G) architecture shall be designed to 
reflect the Town’s Rural Vista Guidelines (RVG) 

RVG Features:  Standing 
seam tin hip roof, windows 
with barn wood shutters, hard 
plank wood-like siding, 
covered porches with wood 
posts, limit of 2 rows of parking 
along Okeechobee Blvd., 
limited removal of native trees, 
heavily landscaped road 
frontages,  Elevations and 
Architectural Renderings 
provided. 

 
7.    ULDC Article 85: Landscape Plan Requirements 

Requirement Response 
Section 85-025 (C) Plots of 2 acres or 
more shall preserve or create and maintain 
an ecological community of at least 3% of 
area of the property  

Needs to identify 0.70 acre preserve for 
proposed Final Site Plan (23.38 acres) or 
0.99 acre preserve for entire parcel. 

Section 85-040 (D) (2) and (3) A tree 
survey, including trees to be removed or 
relocated, including proposed relocation 
sites 

Provided in Landscape Plan:  Summary: 
1.  Plant list (trees and shrubs) 
2.  Vegetation to be retained relocated or 
removed. 
3.  Required tree mitigation 

Section 85-040 (D) (7)  The location, 
including height, caliper and canopy 
spread of all landscape materials 

Provided in Tree Survey and indicated on 
Landscape Plan. 

Section 85-040 (E) Irrigation plan if 
irrigation system to be used 

Condition of Approval 

Section 85-050 (A) (1)  No substances that 
prevent water percolation in areas not 
containing structures or paving 

 Calculated pervious area @ 85% - meets 
ULDC requirement of 70%.   

Section 85-050 (A) (2)  Primary structures 
treated with shrubs @ 2.5 foot height along 
20% of the structure frontage 

Primary structures treated with shrubs and 
hedges per  Landscape Plan – meets 
requirement 

Section 85-050 © Interior open space area 
defined and located @ 10% of the area of 
vehicular use areas, excluding landscape 
strip or perimeter buffers 

 
Provided in Landscape Plan – meets 
requirement. 

56 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 8 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
 

Requirement (continued) Response 
Section 85-050 (B) Meets interior open 
space tree and shrub requirements 

Calculated in Landscape Plan – meets 
requirement 

Section 85-050 (D)  Dumpsters, 
mechanical equipment and electrical 
transformers screened 

Dumpster screened per Landscape Plan – 
meets requirement 
 

Section 85-050 (E) Signs screened No monument signs proposed at this time. 
Condition of approval 

Section 85-050 (F) Existing vegetation 
credit requested and calculated  

Calculated per Landscape Plan – meets 
requirement 

Section 85-055 (B) Landscape buffer along 
property line abutting AR District 

20 feet provided on south and east 
property lines. 

Section 85-050 (C) 15 foot vehicular use 
landscape strip (not counted as interior 
open space) 

20 feet buffer provided on both 
Okeechobee Blvd. and “D” Road 

Section 85-050  (C) (1)  Vehicular use 
landscape requirements 

Vehicular use areas provided with 
landscape islands per Landscape Plan – 
meets requirement 

Section 85-065 Site distance requirements 
(Ref: ULDC Article 105) 

25 foot corner clip provided at the D”D 
Road/Okeechobee Boulevard intersection. 

 
6.  ULDC Supplementary Requirements 

 
a. ULDC Article 90 Signs 
Allowed Signs Response 

Sections 05-040 Permits required and 90-070 
Sign permit requirements  

Condition of Approval 

Section 90-040(B) Standards by sign type and zoning district (CL District 
shopping center or other multi-tenant center) 
(1)  Mandatory attached building identification 
(i.e. address) sign : 1 per structure or business 
@ maximum sign face of 4 sq. ft. 

Condition of Approval 

(2)  Attached awning sign (optional): Maximum 
1 per structure or business @ maximum sign 
face of 4 sq. ft.   

None proposed 

(3a)  Outparcel or individual stand-alone 
building wall sign(s): 1 per building, 2 if corner 
location @ maximum sign face of 18 sq. ft. to 
36 sq. ft. Applies to Buildings D, E and F. 

To be determined at the time of Sign 
Permit Application per ULDC Section 
90-070 requirements. 

(4) Attached canopy sign: 1 per canopy or 2 
per building which ever is less @ 16 sq. ft. to 
24 sq. ft. 

None proposed 

 
 
 
 

57 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 9 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
 

Allowed Signs (continued) Response (continued) 
(5a)  Outparcel or individual stand-alone 
building free-standing monument or panel 
sign(s): Primary sign - 1 per building @ 
maximum sign face of 60 sq. ft.; Drive-thru 
secondary sign @  maximum sign face of 12 
sq. ft. Applies to Buildings D, E and F. 

 
None proposed 

(6) Real Estate or Project Sign (to be removed 
after sale or project completion) 1 per street 
frontage @ maximum sign face of 12 sq. ft.  

None proposed 

Sections 90-065 Landscaping around signage 
to meet the requirements of Section 85-050 
Landscape design for interior open space 

 
Not applicable. 

 
 
b.   ULDC Article 95 Parking and Loading 
Requirement Response 

Section 95-010 Minimum parking space 
requirements – 51 spaces required.  
2 handicap spaces required (Ref: Table 
208.2 PBC ULDC – 2% of total) 

144 spaces provided.  9 handicap spaces 
provided. Additional spaces provided for 
visitors and special events at Education 
Center. 

Section 95-025 Size of parking spaces – 
Standard space = 11’ x 22.5”.  Handicap 
space = 14’ x 22.5’ 

Required standard spaces provided 

Section 95-050 Minimum loading space 
requirements (i.e. for uses that receive 
materials by truck). 

Loading area provided (2 @ Maintenance 
Building  

Section 95-070 Size of loading spaces – 
12’ x 45’ with 14’ vertical clearance 

Loading area meets requirements 

 
7.  ULDC Section 155-020:  Substantive Requirements (Site Plan) 

Criterion Compliance 
 
Section 150-020 (A) Conformance to the approved 
and/or recorded plat, if applicable 

The property consists of 2 lots 
(Tracts 9 and 11 of Block D) 
recorded on the Replat of 
Loxahatchee District 
Subdivision on 6/12/1925 
(ORB 12, Page 29).   

Section 150-020 (B) Consistency with the 
Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan 

Yes – Refer to Section D, 
above. 

Section 150-020 (C) Conformance with the Town of 
Loxahatchee Groves ULDC 

Yes – Refer to Sections G1 to 
G11. 

 
Section 150-020 (D) Conformity with the water 
control district’s requirements and regulations. 

Proposed drainage discharge   
“D” Road Canal.  No LGWCD 
issues identified. 

 

58 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 10 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
 

8.   ULDC Article 170-025 Special Exception Review Standards 
Standard (paraphrased) Response 

Section (A) (1)  No detrimental impact 
to contiguous and proximate uses 

ULDC requirements and Conditions of 
Approval will insure that potential impacts are 
minimized. 

Section (A) (2)  Compatible with existing 
uses on contiguous and proximate 
properties 

The application of ULDC and Conditional Use 
requirements, coupled with a low (0.54) F.A.R 
and a 35-foot height limitation will insure 
compatibility. 

Standard (paraphrased) (continued) Response 
Section (A) (3)  Adequate screening 
and buffering for adjacent uses to 
address potential incompatibilities 

Screening, buffering, landscaping, setbacks 
and separation requirements meet or exceed 
ULDC requirements. 

Section (A) (4)  Adequate parking and 
loading  to be provided and access 
designed to minimally interfere with 
traffic on abutting streets 

Proposed parking exceeds ULDC 
requirements.  25-foot corner clip aids 
visibility.  Final Site Plan indicates loading 
area.  Site access is through controlled gates 
limiting access during night hours. 

Section (A) (5) Use will not cause 
detrimental environmental impact upon 
adjacent properties 

Environmental Assessment and Phase 1 
Environmental Assessments indicate no 
current environmental issues.  Conditions of 
Approval will insure environmental 
compatibility. 

Section (A) (6)  Use will not cause 
detrimental effect upon vehicular, 
pedestrian or equestrian traffic 

Peak-hour trips are estimated at 19 trips per 
day; a minimal impact upon vicinity roads.  A 
25-foot corner clip is planned for the 
Okeechobee Blvd/”D” Road intersection to 
maximize visibility. 

Section (A) (7)  Use will not utilize 
turning movements onto public roads or 
intersections that result in a public 
hazard  

Access is from Okeechobee Boulevard and 
“D” Road.  Vehicles travelling west on 
Okeechobee can access the property via the 
“D” road entrance. 

Section (A) (8)  The use will not have a 
detrimental on the future development 
of contiguous properties or the vicinity 

The Final Site Plan indicates substantial 
screening and buffering and separation 
distances that will mitigate potential impacts.  

Section (A) (9)  The use will not create 
incompatible noise, lights, vibrations, 
fumes, odors, dust or physical activities, 
taking into account existing uses on 
contiguous properties or the vicinity 

Required photometric plan and Conditions of 
Approval will ensure compatibility with 
neighboring properties.  Site design, including 
the location of uses, buffering, setbacks, 
landscaping and separation distances, 
coupled with limited hours of operation will 
minimize noise impacts. 

Section (A) (10) The use will not 
overburden public services and facilities 

Infrastructure and services impacts discussed 
in Section G.2. indicate no significant impact. 

 
 
 

59 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 11 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
 

9.  Architecture (Discussion of Rural Vista Guidelines by Applicant)  
 
The proposed development plans are consistent with the Rural Vista Guidelines 

as outlined below. The Applicant has considered these guidelines and applied the 
following design elements throughout the project.  (NOTE:  EXAMPLES, IN 11” x 17” 
FORMAT, MAILED TO P&ZB MEMBERS UNDER SEPARATE COVER). 
 

• Areas of materials applied to mimic wood lap siding on the building and signs 
 
• Trim at corners of buildings 
 
• Breaks at larger building walls using arcades, banding and projections 
 
• Use of the continuous arcade (porch) to keep the human scale along the fronts of 

buildings 
 
• Use of metal roofing where applicable 
 
• Use of vertical elements to bring down the scale of the buildings and break up 

the roof line 
 
• Integration of complex window elements on buildings 
 
• Screening of mechanical and service areas 

 
• Use of Native Landscape material 

 
• All exterior lighting directed downward with shields  

 
H.  Compatibility 
 
 An inventory of land uses adjacent to the subject property is presented in Section 
B. All adjacent properties are assigned RR 5 future land use and AR zoning 
designations.   Adjacent properties to the north (Okeechobee Boulevard) and west (“D” 
Road) lie beyond street rights-of way.   
 
 The adjacent properties to the north, beyond Okeechobee Boulevard, include 
tree nursery and vacant land.  The adjacent property to the south is a landscape 
maintenance business. Properties to the east include a Palm Beach County Fire Rescue 
facility and two residential lots.  The adjacent properties to the west, beyond “D” Road, 
include tree nursery and vacant land. 
 
 Compatible land uses are defined as those which are consistent with each other 
in that they do not create or foster undesirable health, safety, or aesthetic effects arising 
from direct association of dissimilar activities, including the impacts of intensity of use, 
traffic, hours of operation, aesthetics, noise vibration, smoke, hazardous odors, 
radiation, and other land use conditions.  Conditions of Approval can be imposed to 

60 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 12 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

address these issues. 
 
 
 To be compatible, it is not necessary that two uses have the exact same function 
(e.g. residential, commercial, institutional, etc.).  Rather, compatibility is attained when 
uses do not adversely affect each other.  Further, uses whose functions are different can 
compliment and support each other. For example, a residential use can help support a 
service use and, conversely, the service use can provide essential services to residents 
of surrounding neighborhoods.   
 
 The greatest potential for incompatibility between Big Dog Ranch and its 
neighbors is noise generated by barking dogs. Separation from neighboring uses can act 
to fully or partially mitigate potential effects.  To the west and north the subject property 
is separated from adjacent properties by 60- foot (i.e. “D” Road) and 100-foot (i.e. 
Okeechobee Boulevard) rights-of-way.  In addition, a Rescued Animal Care Conditional 
Use requirement is that outdoor dog runs must be located no closer than 200 feet from a 
residential zoning district.  Further, the proposed limitation on the hours that dogs can be 
outside provides further noise incompatibility insurance. 
 
 In addition to separation of uses and hours of operation, access management, 
buffering, screening, setback, height, landscaping, and architectural requirements further 
compatibility, and reduce the potential negative impacts.   
 
 A review of the subject site vicinity leads to the conclusion that the area is 
comprised of a mixture of agricultural, institutional, residential vacant properties.  The 
low proposed F.A.R (0.054) and traffic generation, 35-foot height limitation and 
compatibility measures discussed above insure that the proposed Big Dog Ranch is a 
compatible neighbor. 
 
I.  Development Review Committee (DRC) Comments 
 

The following were notified and requested to provide any comments during the 
review process regarding issues or concerns with the proposed Big Dog Ranch Site 
Plan:: (Note:  Detailed comments and Applicant responses presented in 
Attachment C) 
 

Agency/Entity Comment/Response Summary 
County Agricultural Extension Office Any objections from neighbors/None at this 

time 
PBC Sheriff’s Department No response 
PBC Health Department Prior to demolition contact Florida Dept. of 

Health regarding Asbestos removal 
regulations and bio-medical hazardous 
waste permits/Condition of Approval 

Lox. Groves Water Control District Response (verbal)/”D” Road r.o.w. to be 
dedicated to the Town. No drainage 
issues. 

 
 

61 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 13 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
 
 

Agency/Entity (continued) Comment/Response Summary 
PBC Solid Waste Authority No issues/NA 
Keschavarz & Assoc. (Town Engineer) Several comments regarding drainage, 

traffic, parking and water and sewer/Ref:  
Attachment C)  

PBC Fire Rescue Buildings 5,000 sq. ft. and larger must 
contain automatic sprinklers/Condition of 
Approval 

Simmons & White (Town Traffic Engineer) Several comments regarding entry gates, 
traffic study, site plan detail, and road 
improvements/Ref:  Attachment C) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

62 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 14 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
Big Dog Ranch Final Site Plan: SP 2014-01 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

63 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 15 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
 

ATTACHMENT B  
Big Dog Ranch Site Plan: SP 2014-01 

Conditions of Approval, as Revised by P&ZB; 1/22/2015 
 

FINAL SITE PLAN CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
GENERAL 
 
1.  The conditions of approval herein shall apply to the Owner, Applicant and their 
successors and assigns. 
 
2. Development of the site is limited to the uses approved by the Town of Loxahatchee 
Groves in Exhibit “A” (Big Dog Ranch Final Site Plan). The approved Final Site Plan is 
dated December 30, 2014. All modifications to the Final Site Plan must be approved by 
the Town Council unless the proposed changes are required to meet conditions of 
approval or are in accordance with the ULDC, as determined by the Town Manager. 
 
3.  Prior to submittal of any building permit applications for processing by Palm Beach 
County,  the Town Manager shall review and approve the following plans for consistency 
with the approved Final Site Plan Site Plan, Landscape Plan, Floor Plans, and 
Photometric Plan. 
 
5.  The location of 0.99 acres of preserve area shall be identified on the Final Site Plan 
and included in Phase 1 improvements. 
 
ARCHITECTURAL  
 
1.  Building sidings and signs materials shall mimic wood lap siding 

 
2.  Trim shall be applied at the corners of buildings 

 
3.  Wall breaks on the larger buildings shall be enhanced by using arcades, banding, 
and projections 

 
4.  Arcades (porch) shall be used as a means of creating human scale along the fronts 
of buildings 

 
5.  Metal roofing shall be used on all buildings 

 
6.  Mansard roofs and other vertical elements shall be used to break up the roof line 

 
7.  Integration of complex window elements on buildings shall be used. 

 
8.  Mechanical and service areas shall be screened from public view 

 
9.  Signage structures shall mimic building architecture 
 
 

64 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 16 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
 
ENGINEERING 
 
1.  Consistent with the Palm Beach County Mandatory Traffic Performance Standards 
criteria in place at the time of this approval, no building permits for the site shall be 
issued after December 31, 2020.  A time extension for this condition may be approved 
by the Palm Beach County Engineer based upon an approved traffic study which 
complies with Mandatory Traffic Performance Standards in place at the time of the 
request. 
 
2.  During the plat process the Okeechobee Boulevard and ”D” Road rights-of-way, as 
indicated on the Final Site Plan shall be dedicated to Palm Beach County and the Town, 
respectively.  
 
3.  An Irrigation plan shall be included with documents submitted to Palm Beach County 
for building permit approval. 
 
LAND CLEARING AND LANDSCAPING 
 
1.  Any land clearing activities shall comply with the permit requirements of Article 87 
“Native Tree Preservation, Soil Stabilization and Invasive Exotic Removal” of the 
Loxahatchee Groves Unified Land Development Code. Included in the required land 
clearing permit application, a “Created Ecological Community Installation and 
Management Plan” shall be submitted for the 0.99 acre “Reserve” to satisfy the 
requirements of ULDC Section 85-025 (C) “Preserved/created ecological communities.”  
 
2.  Project landscaping shall conform to the Landscape Plan dated December 30, 2014. 
 
3.  Prior to demolition of any structures, the Florida Dept. of Health shall be contacted 
regarding Asbestos removal. 
 
4.  The Agility Course and all Dog Runs and Supervised Dog Areas shall be covered by 
natural turf grass or permeable artificial surface. 
 
5.  A continuous solid opaque hedge, minimum 4-feet high at installation, shall be 
required around the perimeter of the entire 33.16 acre property.  All hedging shall be 
included as part of the Phase 1 improvements and permanently maintained at a height 
of 6-feet.    
 
EXTERIOR LIGHTING 
 
1.  A Photometric Plan shall be submitted for review and approval by the Town Manager 
prior to submittal of the initial building permit application. 
 
2.  All exterior lighting shall be directed downward and contain shields to contain lighting 
within the property boundaries. 
  
PALM TRAN 
 

65 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 17 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

1. Not Applicable. 
 
PARKING AND LOADING 
 
1.  All parking and loading shall occur on site as indicated on the approved Final Site 
Plan dated December 30, 2014. 
 
SIGNS 
 
1.  Sign permit applications shall be submitted to the Town as required by ULDC Section 
90-070 Sign permit requirements 
 
2.  Mandatory building identification signs (maximum sign face of 4 sq. ft.) shall be 
attached to each structure. 
 
USE LIMITATIONS 
 
1.  Veterinary services and dog boarding as accessory uses may be provided by a 
licensed veterinarian for adopted or previously adopted animals.  Veterinary services 
and dog boarding as accessory uses may be provided by a licensed veterinarian to the 
public provided that the facility maintains direct access to Okeechobee Boulevard. 
 
2.  An accessory caretaker unit may be provided. 
 
3.  The number of dogs allowed shall be based upon square footage of the facility and 
PBC Animal Control Center regulations. 
 
4.  Outdoor animal runs shall be located a minimum of 200 feet from a directly abutting 
residential zoning district, be hard surfaced or grassed with drains every 10 feet and be 
connected to a central or individual sanitary facility approved by the PBCHD. 
 
5.  A minimum 6-foot high vinyl chain-link fence enclosing Phase 1, 2 and 3 facilities 
shall be included as part of the Phase 1 improvements.   
 
6.  Separate, minimum 6-foot high vinyl chain-link fences shall be required around each 
outdoor run area. 
 
7.  Outdoor runs shall not be used earlier than 7:00 a.m. or later than 8:00 p.m. seven 
days per week. 
 
8.  Swing gates shall be installed at the Okeechobee Boulevard and “D” Road entrances.  
 
 a. The gate along Okeechobee Boulevard shall be used as the primary facility 
 access and open to the public from  10am to 6pm. Said gate shall be accessed 
 after hours only by managerial and veterinary staff.  
 
 b. The gates along D Road shall be located a minimum of 35 feet from the 
 western property line.  
 
  

66 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 18 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
 
 
 
UTILITIES AND SERVICES 
 
1.  A Developer’s Agreement shall be executed by the Property Owner and the Palm 
Beach County Water Utility Department and approved by the Town of Loxahatchee 
Groves for the provision of central water and wastewater services to the project prior to 
issuance of the first project building permit. 
 
2.  Solid waste collection and disposal shall be accomplished by contract between the 
Property Owner and a third-party hauler prior to issuance of the initial certificate of 
occupancy 
 
3.  The operation shall comply with the following waste disposal standards, as 
appropriate:  (1) PBC ECR 1 and ECR 2 and rules of FDEP, PBCHD and PBCSWA. 
 
4 Prior to a Certificate of Occupancy for Phase 1, the Florida Dept. of Health shall be 
contacted regarding the need for bio-medical hazardous waste permits. 
 
5.  Buildings of 5,000 sq. ft. and larger shall contain automatic sprinkler systems. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 19 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
 

ATTACHMENT C 
Big Dog Ranch Final Site Plan: SP 2014-01 
DRC Comments and Applicant Responses 

 
PBC COOPERATIVE EXTENSION SERVICE COMMENTS: 
 
1. I have reviewed the plans for this rather ambitious project. It seems as though the 

number of animals per acre is not excessive and although the concept appears to be 
well thought through, I am not knowledgeable about the building requirements, fire 
codes and any specialized building requirements for the Vet. Clinic. Is there any 
resistance from surrounding residents about the proposed number of animals on this 
site? 
 
Response: At the time of submittal, no resistance from surrounding residents, 
regarding the proposed number of animals has been presented to the 
Applicant. 

 
FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH COMMENTS: 
 
1. Prior to demolition of existing buildings, applicant needs to contact Mr. Alex Ortega 

(561-837-5963) with the Florida Department of Health to discuss Asbestos 
regulations. 
 
Response: Acknowledged, the Applicant will contact Mr. Ortega prior to the 
demolition of existing buildings. 

 
2. Water and wastewater connection will be required. Proof of concurrency needed. 

 
Response: Acknowledged, the appropriate connections will be made for water 
and wastewater services.  

 
3. Bio-medical and hazardous waste permits will be required. 

 
Response: Acknowledged, the appropriate permits will be submitted following 
the approval process. 

 
SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY COMMENTS: 
 
1. I have reviewed the application, and I have no comments concerning solid waste 

management issues. 
 
Response: Acknowledged. 

 
PBC FIRE-RESCUE COMMENTS: 
 
1. Water supply for fire flow requirements for buildings. 

 

68 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 20 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

Response: Acknowledged. 
 
2. Buildings 5000 square feet and over automatic sprinkler systems shall be installed. 

 
Response: Acknowledged. 
 

ENGINEERING CONSULTANT COMMENTS: 
 
1. Please provide the projects drainage statement describing the proposed stormwater 

management system.  
 
Response: A Drainage Statement was provided as part of the initial submittal. 
Copies have been provided again, as part of the resubmittal for your reference.  
 

2. Provide a 25’ corner clip at the intersection of Okeechobee Boulevard and D Road. 
 
Response: Acknowledged, a 25’ corner clip has been provided at the 
intersection of Okeechobee Boulevard and D Road. 
 

3. Provide a 20’ Easement along D Road dedicated to the town for Roadway, Drainage 
and Utility Purposes (We may want to consider road R/W). 
 
Response: Acknowledged, a 31’ right-of-way has been provided along D Road. 
 

4. Please provide a copy of the landscape plan. 
 
Response: Acknowledged, a copy of the revised Landscape Plan has been 
provided as part of the resubmittal. 
 

5. Describe the proposed sanitary sewer system that will serve the site. Include the 
location of a private lift station, if necessary.  
 
Response: The site is served by a private lift station, gravity sewer system and 
force main connecting into the PBCWUD owned force main within Okeechobee 
Road R/W adjacent to the site.  The location of the lift station, gravity sewer 
and force main is shown on the conceptual engineering plans. 
 

6. It is anticipated that PBCWUD will require a looped water system to provide service 
to the site. The proposed water main shall be publically owned and installed within 
the 20’ Easement dedicated to the Town. The proposed water main shall be 
constructed to the southern property limits of the site. 
 
Response: The conceptual engineering plan shows a looped water main 
coming internal to the project and going to the south property line.  We have 
already met with PBCWUD and they will be requiring that this portion of the 
water main from Okeechobee Road to the south property line of the property 
will be dedicated to PBCWUD by easement and bill of sale to them. 
 
 
 

69 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 21 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
7. Was an Alta Survey required for the site plan submittal? If so, please provide a copy 

for our review. 
 
Response: A copy of the Survey has been provided as part of the resubmittal. 

 
8. Provide a typical parking stall detail with wheel stops or curb. Identify vehicle 

overhang if applicable. 
 
Response: Acknowledged, a typical parking stall detail has been provided as 
part of the resubmittal. 
 

9. There appears to be angular parking stalls along the west side of the site. Please 
provide a detail for review. 
 
Response: No angled parking is being proposed at this time. 

 
TRAFFIC CONSULTANT COMMENTS: 
 
1. Please provide a detail and description of what type of gates (i.e., rolling, swinging, 

etc.) will be utilized at the project access points. 
 
Response: The proposed gates along Okeechobee Boulevard and D Road are 
swing gates. 
 

2. Provide a narrative in the justification statement outlining the utilization of the gates 
at the project access points. More specifically, time periods when the gates will be 
open and who will have access. 
 
Response: The Justification Statement has been revised to provide 
information as to the utilization of the proposed gates on site. 
 

3. Relocate gates as far away from the right-of-way as possible at each project access 
point. 
 
Response: The proposed gates have been located as far as possible from the 
right-of-way. 
 

4. Dimension throat distance at each project access point measured from the ultimate 
right-of-way line to 1.) the location of the proposed gates and 2.) the first conflict 
point. 
 
Response: The requested dimensions have been provided on the revised Site 
Plan. 
 

5. Provide a parking detail clearly showing dimensions of the typical parking stalls to be 
utilized. 
 
Response: A Parking Detail with the appropriate dimensions has been 
provided as part of the resubmittal. 

70 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 22 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 
6. Clearly identify the centerline of both Okeechobee Boulevard and “D” Road. 

 
Response: The centerlines for both Okeechobee Boulevard and D Road have 
been included on the revised Site Plan. 
 

7. Dimension the existing and/or ultimate right-of-way for Okeechobee Boulevard and 
“D” Road. 
 
Response: The right-of-ways for Okeechobee Boulevard and D Road have 
been dimensioned on the revised Site Plan. 

8. Show the required safe sight triangle (corner clips) at all project access points. 
 
Response: The required safe sight triangles have been identified on the 
revised Site Plan. 
 

9. The Site Plan calls out a portion of the development as retail, but does not address a 
retail component in the traffic study. 
 
Response: The Visitor Center building proposed for the subject site is not 
retail in nature. The classification of the use as retail was utilized for the 
calculation of parking spaces due to the lack of compatible uses in the Town 
Code. As such, the Visitor Center was not identified as a retail use within the 
Traffic Study. 
 

10. Provide a copy of the traffic study for the Folke Peterson Center for Animal Welfare. 
 
Response: Acknowledged, a copy of the Traffic Study for the Folke Peterson 
Center for Animal Welfare has been provided as part of the resubmittal. 
 

11. Please justify the large discrepancy between the minimal amount of trips outlined by 
the programmative approach in the traffic study and the proposed 133 parking study. 
 
Response: Please refer to the revised Traffic Study. 
 

12. Please provide project build-out date in traffic study.  
 
Response: Please refer to the revised Traffic Study, which indicates a build out 
year of 2020. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

71 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Big Dog Ranch                                                 23 
Special Exception and Site Plan (SP) Application 14-1 
January 23, 2015 
 

 

72 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



73 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2015-09 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, APPROVING THE BIG DOG 
RANCH SPECIAL EXCEPTION AND SITE PLAN, FOR LAND OWNED 
BY TLH 25 VILLA, LLC CONSISTING OF 33.16 ACRES MORE OR 
LESS, LOCATED AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OKEECHOBEE 
BOULEVARD AND “D” ROAD LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, 
LEGALLY DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A” TO THIS RESOLUTION; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council, as the governing body of the Town of Loxahatchee 

Groves, Florida (“Town”), pursuant to the authority vested in Chapter 163 and Chapter 166, 
Florida Statutes, is authorized and empowered to consider applications relating to special 
exceptions and site plans for development on property within the Town;  and 
 

WHEREAS, the Council, pursuant to Article 2 (Development Review Process) of the 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Unified Land Development Code is authorized and empowered to 
consider, approve, approve with conditions or deny special exceptions and site plans; and 
 

WHEREAS, the notice and hearing requirements, as provided for in Article 2 of the 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Unified Land Development Code have been satisfied; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Town Planning and Zoning Board (P&Z Board), at its meeting of 
January 22, 2015 recommended approval of the Big Dog Ranch Special Exception and Site Plan 
Application SP 2014-01; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Big Dog Ranch Site Plan Application  SP 2014-01, was presented to the 
Town Council at a quasi-judicial public hearing conducted on February 17, 2015; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has considered the evidence and testimony presented by 
the applicant and other interested parties and the recommendations of Town staff and Town P&Z 
Board; and 
 

WHEREAS, this approval is subject to Article 2.E (Monitoring) of the Town of 
Loxahatchee Groves Unified Land Development Code (Town ULDC) and other provisions 
requiring that development commence in a timely manner. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee 
Groves as follows: 
 
 Section 1. Each “WHEREAS” clause set forth above is true and correct and herein 
incorporated by this reference. 

74 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution 2015-05 

2 
 

 
 Section 2. The Town Council has considered the findings in the staff report dated 
January 23, 2015 and Town Planning and Zoning Board recommendation and makes the 
following findings of fact: 
 
1. The Special Exception and Site Plan are consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives 

and policies of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan, including 
standards for building and structural intensities and intensities of use. 

 
2. This Site Plan as presented in Exhibit C hereto, complies with relevant and appropriate 

portions of applicable Town of Loxahatchee Groves land development regulations, 
including Section 8-060 “Rescued Animal Care”, Article 155 “Site Plans”, and Article 
170 “Special Exceptions”.   This Site Plan, along with the Statement of Use, as adopted 
and presented in Exhibit C, and Conditions of Approval, as adopted and presented in 
Exhibit D hereto, complies with standards imposed on it by all other applicable 
provisions of the Town ULDC.  The Town Council finds the conditions, as presented in 
Exhibit D hereto, to be reasonable, and rationally related to the proposed development, 
and consistent with the Town’s character. 

 
3. This Site Plan and Statement of Use, as presented in Exhibits B and C hereto, along with 

Conditions of Approval, as adopted and presented in Exhibit D hereto, are compatible 
and generally consistent with the uses and character of the land surrounding and in the 
vicinity of the land proposed for development. 

 
4. The proposed design, with Conditions of Approval as adopted and presented in Exhibit D 

hereto, minimizes adverse effects, including visual impact and intensity of the proposed 
use on adjacent lands. 

 
5. This Site Plan and Statement of Use, as presented in Exhibits C and D hereto, along with 

Conditions of Approval, as adopted and presented in Exhibit D hereto, minimize 
environmental impacts, including but not limited to water, air, storm water management, 
wildlife, vegetation, wetlands and the natural functioning of the environment. 

 
6.  This Site Plan and Statement of Use, as presented in Exhibits C and D hereto, along with 

Conditions of Approval, as adopted and presented in Exhibit D hereto, will result in 
logical, timely and orderly development patterns. 

 
Section 3. The Town of Loxahatchee Groves Unified Land Development Code 

requires that the action of the Town Council of Loxahatchee Groves be adopted by resolution.  
Therefore, the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves approves the Big Dog Ranch  
Special Exception and Site Plan SP 2014-01 for the parcel of land legally described in EXHIBIT 
“A”, attached hereto and made a part hereof, and generally located as shown on a vicinity sketch 
as indicated in EXHIBIT “A”, attached hereto and made a part hereof. A copy of the Site Plan, 
and Statement of Use, subject to the approved Conditions of Approval presented in Exhibit D, 
are attached hereto as Exhibits B and C and made a part  hereof. 

  

75 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution 2015-05 

3 
 

Section 4. All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 
repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

 
Section 5. If any clause, section, other part or application of this Resolution is held 

by any court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, in part or application, it 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions or applications of this Resolution. 

 
Section 6.   This Resolution shall become effective upon adoption. 

   
 
 
RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, Florida this   17 day of _February, 2015. 
      
       TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 
ATTEST:      FLORIDA 
 
____________________________   ________________________________ 
TOWN CLERK     Mayor David Browning  
   
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:  ________________________________ 
       Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel   
  
______________________________  ________________________________ 
Town Attorney     Council Member Jim Rockett 
       
       ________________________________ 
       Council Member Ryan Liang 
       
       ________________________________ 
       Council Member Tom Goltzene 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

76 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution 2015-05 

4 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION AND LOCATION MAP 
 

The following Legal Description is applicable to Resolution 2015-05: 
 
 
Parcel Control Numbers:  41-41-43-17-01-411-0010 
         41-41-43-17-01-409-0010 
 
PARCEL I: 
 
TRACT 11, BLOCK D, “LOXAHATCHEE GROVES”, ACCORDING TO THE 
PLAT THEREOF, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 12, PAGE 29 OF THE 
PUBLIC RECORDS OF PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

 

PARCEL II: 
 
TRACT 9, BLOCK D, “LOXAHATCHEE GROVES”, ACCORDING TO THE 
PLAT THEREOF, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 12, PAGE 29 OF THE 
PUBLIC RECORDS OF PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

 

 CONTAINING:  1,444,527 SQUARE FEET OR 33.162 ACRE, MORE OR LESS, 
 SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS, RESTRICTIONS, RESERVATIONS, AND RIGHT OF 
 WAY OF RECORD. 

 

LOCATION MAP 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

77 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution 2015-05 

5 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
EXHIBIT B 

 
BIG DOG RANCH FINAL SITE PLAN 2014-02 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

78 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



79 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution 2015-05 

6 
 

 
EXHIBIT C 

BIG DOG RANCH FINAL SITE PLAN: SP 2014-01 
STATEMENT OF USE 

 

APPLICANT’S STATEMENT OF USE  
 
The request of the proposed amendment is to modify +/-21.73-acres from the current AR (Agricultural 
Residential) Zoning designation to Planned Commercial Development (PCD).  Loxahatchee Groves 
Commons has been designed to enhance and preserve the rural character of the area and promote 
economic development in the Town through the placement and design of each proposed use. 
 
Concurrent with this rezoning request is the creation of the Planned Commercial Development (PCD) 
district.  The intent of the PCD district is to allow for creative use of land resulting in quality 
development.  The PCD district will encourage ingenuity and imagination with an intent to promote 
sustainable development, creates logical street and transportation networks, preserves the natural 
environment, enhances the built environment, provides services to the community and minimizes impacts 
on the surrounding areas through the use of flexible and innovative land development techniques.  The 
subject property has been designed to be consistent with the proposed PCD Zoning requirements.   
 
The location for the requested PCD Zoning designation is the most appropriate location for commercial 
retail uses, as it is located at the corner of a major intersection with a State SIS roadway, and located 
across B Road from a proposed commercial and office project located on the east side of B Road. This 
will create a node of community-serving uses at a logical intersection. The planned western campus of the 
Palm Beach State College will wrap around the west and north sides of the site as well with cross access 
being proposed to the campus’s main entrance from Southern Boulevard. In addition, B Road connects to 
Binks Forest Drive to the south.  The proposed commercial retail uses have been designed to promote 
economic development and create jobs within the Town of Loxahatchee Groves. 
 
The subject property has been designed to locate a lake tract along the northern boundary, adjacent to the 
future Palm Beach State College western campus and to cluster the uses along the high traffic area of 
Southern Boulevard. The applicant has previously made changes to the master plan pursuant to comments 
received at the Planning and Zoning Board Meetings. These changes addressed the two previous main 
concerns of parking space sizes and circulation. Further changes have evolved with the current layout 
which also further the ease of circulation, cross connection with the neighboring college, and access 
between users on the site.  
 
One of the changes made was to relocate the community park to be adjacent to the lake and project 
entrance. The location has been modified slightly to help the circulation for the center, while keeping the 
park area in a prominent location.  In addition, the applicant is also proposing an equestrian trail around 
the lake providing an additional amenity for the community. The applicant has also been working with 
their anchor tenants to provide safer access from B Road and better vehicular circulation throughout the 
property. Along with these changes, one of the most important changes was to create better visibility to 
ensure the project is viable. This was accomplished by pulling the entire development and all buildings 
closer to Southern Blvd. The proposed revisions are being made to create a better site plan for the 
community and the customers who will be frequenting the proposed businesses.  
All exotic vegetation will be removed from the subject property.  In addition, the subject property has 
been designed with a 10’ landscape buffer along the western boundary of the property and a 15’ 
landscape buffer along the southern boundary of the property.   
 

80 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution 2015-05 

7 
 

 
 
STATEMENT OF INTENT TO SUBDIVIDE 
 
The subject property is consistent with the provisions of ULDC Article 41.1.E.4.b.  The development plan 
has been designed to allow subdivision of the outparcels (Buildings D, E, F, & G) by fee title conveyance 
of these internal lots, upon approval of the Town Manager.  Each of these outparcels have been designed 
to be consistent with the requirements of Article 41.1.E.4.b.   
 
STATEMENT OF ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE DELINEATION OF NATIVE 
VEGETATION TO BE PRESERVED 
 
Pursuant to the Town’s comprehensive plan and land development regulations, the applicant is proposing 
to cluster the commercial development on the +/-21.73-acres located at the corner of the intersection of B 
Road and Southern Boulevard. The majority of the first +/-300’ into the property along the frontage of 
Southern Boulevard has been used for grazing thus is not heavily vegetated.  However, the portion further 
into the development does include an area of pines, oaks, sabal palms, other native species and exotic 
plants such as Brazilian Pepper. This area lies mostly where the applicant is proposing a lake to be 
consistent with South Florida Water Management regulations such as compensating storage and retention 
requirements for the property which equates to approximately 6.5 acres of required area. The lake was 
located on the Northern third of the property to help buffer and transition into the PBSC property to the 
north and west. The applicant is proposing to cluster the commercial area as close to Southern Boulevard 
and B Road as possible to be consistent with the Town’s comprehensive plan and land development 
regulations. It is important to note that most of the native plant material would fall under the retention 
area and thus not being suitable for preservation. The areas in and around the development area will also 
be re-graded to meet SFWMD drainage requirements and keep the site and off-site areas from flooding. 
Lastly, the applicant has provided several open space areas and perimeter buffer’s where trees could be 
preserved however most of these areas are encompassed by brazilian pepper and not native vegetation. 
The applicants intends on removing all exotic vegetation from the open space areas and install new, 
healthy native vegetation and will utilize any existing sabal palms if they are able to be relocated from the 
proposed lake area. 
 
BUFFER DETAIL FOR ANY PROPERTY LINE ADJACENT TO A RESIDENTIAL ZONING 
DISTRICT 
 
This requirement is not applicable due to the commercial property bordering the future Palm Beach State 
College Property. The applicant has provided landscape buffers on the master plan/site plan which will be 
stripped of all exotic plant material and re-planted with native vegetation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution 2015-05 

8 
 

EXHIBIT D 
FINAL SITE PLAN CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

GENERAL 
 
1.  The conditions of approval herein shall apply to the Owner, Applicant and their successors 
and assigns. 
 
2. Development of the site is limited to the uses approved by the Town of Loxahatchee Groves in 
Exhibit A (Big Dog Ranch Final Site Plan). The approved Final Site Plan is dated December 30, 
2014. All modifications to the Final Site Plan must be approved by the Town Council unless the 
proposed changes are required to meet conditions of approval or are in accordance with the 
ULDC, as determined by the Town Manager. 
 
3.  Prior to submittal of any building permit applications for processing by Palm Beach County,  
the Town Manager shall review and approve the following plans for consistency with the 
approved Final Site Plan Site Plan, Landscape Plan, Floor Plans, and Photometric Plan. 
 
5.  The location of 0.99 acres of preserve area shall be identified on the Final Site Plan and 
included in Phase 1 improvements. 
 
ARCHITECTURAL  
 
1.  Building sidings and signs materials shall mimic wood lap siding 

 
2.  Trim shall be applied at the corners of buildings 

 
3.  Wall breaks on the larger buildings shall be enhanced by using arcades, banding, and 
projections 

 
4.  Arcades (porch) shall be used as a means of creating human scale along the fronts of 
buildings 

 
5.  Metal roofing shall be used on all buildings 

 
6.  Mansard roofs and other vertical elements shall be used to break up the roof line 

 
7.  Integration of complex window elements on buildings shall be used. 

 
8.  Mechanical and service areas shall be screened from public view 

 
9.  Signage structures shall mimic building architecture 
 
ENGINEERING 
 
1.  Consistent with the Palm Beach County Mandatory Traffic Performance Standards criteria in 
place at the time of this approval, no building permits for the site shall be issued after December 

82 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution 2015-05 

9 
 

31, 2020.  A time extension for this condition may be approved by the Palm Beach County 
Engineer based upon an approved traffic study which complies with Mandatory Traffic 
Performance Standards in place at the time of the request. 
 
2.  During the plat process the Okeechobee Boulevard and ”D” Road rights-of-way, as indicated 
on the Final Site Plan shall be dedicated to Palm Beach County and the Town, respectively.  
 
3.  An Irrigation plan shall be included with documents submitted to Palm Beach County for 
building permit approval. 
 
LAND CLEARING AND LANDSCAPING 
 
1.  Any land clearing activities shall comply with the permit requirements of Article 87 “Native 
Tree Preservation, Soil Stabilization and Invasive Exotic Removal” of the Loxahatchee Groves 
Unified Land Development Code. Included in the required land clearing permit application, a 
“Created Ecological Community Installation and Management Plan” shall be submitted for the 
0.99 acre “Reserve” to satisfy the requirements of ULDC Section 85-025 (C) “Preserved/created 
ecological communities.”  
 
2.  Project landscaping shall conform to the Landscape Plan dated December 30, 2014. 
 
3.  Prior to demolition of any structures, the Florida Dept. of Health shall be contacted regarding 
Asbestos removal. 
 
4.  The Agility Course and all Dog Runs and Supervised Dog Areas shall be covered by natural 
turf grass or permeable artificial surface. 
 
5.  A continuous solid opaque hedge, a minimum 4-feet high at installation, shall be required 
around the perimeter of the entire 33.16 acre property.  All hedging shall be included as part of 
the Phase 1 improvements and permanently maintained at a height of 6-feet.    
 
EXTERIOR LIGHTING 
 
1.  A Photometric Plan shall be submitted for review and approval by the Town Manager prior to 
submittal of the initial building permit application. 
 
2.  All exterior lighting shall be directed downward and contain shields to contain lighting within 
the property boundaries. 
  
PALM TRAN 
 
1. Not Applicable. 
 
PARKING AND LOADING 
 
1.  All parking and loading shall occur on site as indicated on the approved Final Site Plan dated 

83 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution 2015-05 

10 
 

December 30, 2014. 
 
SIGNS 
 
1.  Sign permit applications shall be submitted to the Town as required by ULDC Section 90-070 
Sign permit requirements 
 
2.  Mandatory building identification signs (maximum sign face of 4 sq. ft.) shall be attached to 
each structure. 
 
USE LIMITATIONS 
 
1.  Veterinary services and dog boarding as accessory uses may be provided by a licensed 
veterinarian for adopted or previously adopted animals.  Veterinary services and dog boarding as 
accessory uses may be provided by a licensed veterinarian to the public provided that the facility 
maintains direct access to Okeechobee Boulevard. 
 
2.  An accessory caretaker unit may be provided. 
 
3.  The number of dogs allowed shall be based upon square footage of the facility and PBC 
Animal Control Center regulations. 
 
4.  Outdoor animal runs shall be located a minimum of 200 feet from a directly abutting 
residential zoning district, be hard surfaced or grassed with drains every 10 feet and be connected 
to a central or individual sanitary facility approved by the PBCHD. 
 
5.  A minimum 6-foot high vinyl chain-link fence enclosing Phase 1, 2 and 3 facilities shall be 
included as part of the Phase 1 improvements.   
 
6.  Separate, minimum 6-foot high vinyl chain-link fences shall be required around each outdoor 
run area. 
 
7.  Outdoor runs shall not be used earlier than 7:00 a.m. or later than 8:00 p.m. seven days per 
week. 
 
8.  Swing gates shall be installed at the Okeechobee Boulevard and “D” Road entrances.  
 
 a. The gate along Okeechobee Boulevard shall be used as the primary facility  access 
and open to the public from  10am to 6pm. Said gate shall be accessed  after hours only by 
managerial and veterinary staff.  
 
 b. The gates along D Road shall be located a minimum of 35 feet from the  western 
property line.  
 
 
 

84 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution 2015-05 

11 
 

UTILITIES AND SERVICES 
 
1.  A Developer’s Agreement shall be executed by the Property Owner and the Palm Beach 
County Water Utility Department and approved by the Town of Loxahatchee Groves for the 
provision of central water and wastewater services to the project prior to issuance of the first 
project building permit. 
 
2.  Solid waste collection and disposal shall be accomplished by contract between the Property 
Owner and a third-party hauler prior to issuance of the initial certificate of occupancy 
 
3.  The operation shall comply with the following waste disposal standards, as appropriate:  (1) 
PBC ECR 1 and ECR 2 and rules of FDEP, PBCHD and PBCSWA. 
 
4 Prior to a Certificate of Occupancy for Phase 1, the Florida Dept. of Health shall be contacted 
regarding the need for bio-medical hazardous waste permits. 
 
5.  Buildings of 5,000 sq. ft. and larger shall contain automatic sprinkler systems. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

85 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 8.a.  

Manager’s Report 

86 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Florida 
Town Council AGENDA ITEM REPORT 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.a. 

MEETING DATE: 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY: William F. Underwood, II 
 
SUBJECT: Manager Update 

 
1.BACKGROUND/HISTORY 

 
Problem Statement:  The Town Council requests updates on activities and issues. 

 
Problem Solution:   Provide the Council with an update. 

 
The Council requested they be updated on the various issues facing the Town, it is noted that 
items in this category be provided as part of a written report. 

 
 
 
2.CURRENT ACTIVITY 

 
• Trails: At the Town Council meeting of 11/18/2014, the Council approved the Town 

drafted ILA for funding the trails, maintenance easements, and roads.  The ILA was 
transmitted to the LGWCD on Wednesday, 11/19/2014. 
o Subsequent to the ILA transmittal, the Town Attorney, and staff met with the 

LGWCD attorney and administrator on Friday, 11/21/2014, at the office of the 
District’s attorney. 

o Substantial progress was made.  The Town attorney provided the District’s attorney 
with a summary of the discussion points to be incorporated within a jointly 
prepared ILA. 

o On or about December 3, the Town received comments from the attorney for the 
LGWCD. 

O On December 9, the Town Attorney and I were reviewing the points of the 
agreement. 

o This working group will labor to complete the agreement and present to the 
respective legislative boards as soon as practical. 

o As of December 30, 2014, the Town is on hold pending a response from LGWCD. 
o Recent discussion on January 13, 2015 with the Administrator indicates the Town 

should be reviewing a response soon. 
o On January 23, 2015, the Town received an ILA from the LGWCD without first 

agreeing to the initial discussion positions tentatively agreed upon at the November 
21, 2014, meeting.  We requested the LGWCD provide a document which can be 
edited and changes tracked instead of the document provided which would the Town 
can use instead of having the Town Attorney re-type the agreement at additional cost. 

o Subsequent to receipt and request, on January 23, 2015, the Town was informed the 
LGWCD was incorporating a few more tweaks to the agreement.  Upon completion, 
they will send the document to the Town. 

87 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



o February 3, 2915, the Town received another agreement from the LGWCD, without 
confirmation regarding the original agreed upon discussion points outlined at the 
11/21/2014 meeting between the Town and district staff.  Attorney and staff did not 
have sufficient time to review the document before the district meeting on 2/10/2015. 

o February 26, 2015, the Town attorney and this office discussed the ILA submitted by 
the LGWCD.  Further, The Town Attorney has requested a date and time to discuss the 
ILA during the week of the March 2nd.  As of this writing, we have not received a 
response from the district.  

o March 19, 2015, the Town Attorney and I met with Mary Viator and Frank Palen in 
their offices to review the ILA agreements.  New issues were submitted for Town 
compliance by the district’s attorney.  The new items require the Town to prepare 
construction standards for public trails upon the district’s easements, if applicable.  
Additionally, it appears that before any trails can be used by the citizens, trail 
construction standards must be adopted, implemented, and fences are or may be 
required.  These have not been mentioned at any prior discussion regarding the ILA. 
Under this new requirement: 

 The Town should first prepare a set of standards that will be incorporated 
within the agreement.   

 Further, we learned that not all maintenance easements would be treated as 
public trails.  The trail network concept must be determined before this office 
could recommend an ILA be agreed upon.  

The meeting concluded with the following actions: 
 District attorney and staff will review the base ILA agreement and offer 

potential changes. 
 Town attorney and staff will review the “permit” document and offer 

potential changes. 
 

 
• Building:  Update to work related to the Chamber of Commerce building was included in the 

November 18, 2014 agenda.  The Council instructed staff to begin negotiations with the 
Chamber of Commerce staff. 
o Staff has entered this discussion, the Town Attorney and staff had a teleconference to 

draft a contract for the acquisition. 
o A teleconference was held on 11/24/2014 with Wayne Burns, Executive Director of the 

Chamber. 
o Staff is attempting to finalize negotiations and should be able to complete the 

process and present a contract for purchase at the 12/16/2014 Council meeting. 
o On December 4, 2014, staff and Vice Mayor Jarriel attended the Tri-cities League  BBQ 

in Belle Glade and discussed the subject with PBC Commission and staff. 
o December 9th, the Town Attorney and I received a revised contract from the 

Chamber of Commerce which included significant changes, some of substance, to the 
contract the Town submitted. 

o Due to some of the items included in the revised contract, I feel it is necessary to delay 
the contract consideration until the January meeting. 

o Staff continues to be in discussions with various parties on this subject.   Staff 
members and Town Attorney have been actively pursuing a positive response from 
the County regarding a donation of the land. 

o Dialogue between County and Town staff indicates that an offer by the Town to purchase 
the land for $20,000 would not be a recommended denial but a request for the County 
Commission to provide direction to County staff in this matter. 

o Staff has submitted a letter to Robert Weisman, County Administrator, advising the 
Town continues to affirm the position of receiving a waiver on the cost of the land; 

88 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



however, pursuant to Council direction, staff negotiated with the County staff and I 
advised the Town is prepared to offer $20,000 to purchase the property from the County 
and agree to the stipulation of the sale that (1) the property use will remain public 
purpose and (2) the County retains 75% of mineral rights for any possible future 
determination . 

o On January 26, 2015, Mayor Browning and I met with County Commissioner 
McKinley to discuss the agenda item and the Town’s willingness to meet the stipulations 
and pay $20,000 for the land.   It is my understanding, the Commissioner is agreed to 
move the item on the February 3, 2015, agenda. 

o On February 3, 2015, the Palm Beach County Commission, on a motion from 
Commissioner McKinlay, authorized the sale of the Chamber land to the Town for 
$20,000. 

o That evening at the Town Council meeting of February 3, 2015, the Town Council 
ratified the purchase of the land from Palm Beach County with stipulations.  The Council 
also approved engaging a firm to perform a Phase 1 environmental assessment on the 
property and engaging a surveyor to survey the property.  Both actions were taken in 
order to affirm the property is clear of any hazardous material and confirmation of the 
survey provided by PBC. 

o February 6, 2015, Town Attorney, staff, and Chamber attorney and staff finalized an 
agreement for sale of the building for a price of $460,000.  The agreement will be 
considered for action at the 2/17/2015 Council meeting. 

o Town Council approved the purchase of the Chamber building at its 17th meeting and this 
office wired to the escrow agent (Goren, Cherof, Doody, & Ezrol) $40,000 as good faith 
money. 

o Town staff and attorney completed the purchase of the land and building on March 31, 
2015. 

 
• Traffic:  Staff is working with Minto to draft an agreement between Minto and the Town for 

the funding of the traffic light at Okeechobee Boulevard and D Road. 
o A discussion with Minto’s attorney on December 29, 2014, indicated Palm Beach County 

would agree for the Town and Minto to enter into a funding agreement which may 
exclude the County. 

o No activity on this item as of January 14, 2015. 
o No activity on this item as of January 26, 2015. 
o No activity on this item as of February 10, 2015. 
o This office has received communication and we are trying to establish a date and time 

during the week of March 9th.   
o No activity on this item as of April 1, 2015. 

 
• Building:  Staff had a meeting with the Day property representative to preliminary discuss the 

prospective site plan for the property on Tuesday, December 9.  The meeting was to review site 
plan requirements and process 
o We reviewed the site plan submission requirements 
o Discussed the site plan specifically 

 addressing conditions of approval 
 perimeter landscaping buffer requirements 
 horse trail potential 

o Timing of submittal and hearings 
 PBC manages traffic related issues and may need to be at meetings 
 LGWCD to affirm positive outfall for drainage 
 Interconnection to westerly property discussion 
 Set RETGAC meeting for January 2015 

89 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 P&Z meeting for January 2015 
 About March present to Town Council. 

o No Activity since the 12/16/2014 meeting. 
o On 1/12/2015, staff and Mr. Lipp, met with representatives reviewing Rural Vista  

guidelines assisting the representatives determine the guidelines. 
o This item is due to be presented to the P&Z and RETGAC committees jointly at their 

February 19, 2015, meeting. 
o The February 19th P&Z and RETGAC joint meeting placed additional conditions upon 

the site plan such as an equestrian trail on the north boundary of the property from east to 
west and the Town’s engineer provide a review of the conclusions of the traffic study 
and acceptance. 

o The Town Attorney has received comments regarding the requested trail easement and 
will be providing a response soon.   

 
• Roads:  This office met with Angela Hendrichsen Sandoval, P. E., PMP, Section Leader, and 

Ken Mudd, Resource Professional IV, representing South Florida Water Management District 
(SFWMD) in reference to a permit the SFWMD issued in 1982 for a road and swale 
improvement on 43rd.  As I understand the purpose of the meeting, SFWMD was looking to 
determine whether or not the Town would assist them in correcting a deficiency in the road 
and swale drainage system on the road.  The Town will be contacted in the future regarding the 
next step to be taken to correct the problem. 
o No activity since the 12/16/2014 meeting. 
o No activity from SFWMD representative as of 1/14/2015. 
o This office received communication from SFWMD regarding their internal work to plan 

their path forward on January 15, 2015.  Upon completing their planning effort, they 
will be in touch with staff. 

o No activity since 1/15/2015 to 2/11/1015. 
o February 23, 2015, Ms. Hendrichsen Sandoval stated that this office will be notified in 

advance of a letter will be drafted informing residents of a meeting to discuss the matter. 
o No activity as of April 1, 2015. 

 
• Roads:  Speed hump removal is being investigated as to the methodology and cost of eliminating 

those traffic control devices to meet the Town’s distance specifications. 
o Due to time constraints, this office has been unable to get a response from potential 

vendors; however, the  Town consultant believed the cost to be equal or greater than the 
$700 cost per speed hump to install.  

 
• Roads:  Stop sign removal at C Road and Gruber.  At the last Town Council meeting, the 

Council by consensus agreed that stop signs at this location should be removed.  I have not 
instructed the signs be removed due to a safety issue. 

o This office visited the site in question and determined a vehicle safety hazard exists.  If a 
vehicle is headed west on Gruber, it is, in my opinion, not possible to continue west or 
turn south without entering the intersection exposing oneself to a significant traffic 
hazard. 

o We have instructed the purchase and installation of warning signs to be placed in advance 
of the intersection that states “4 Way Stop Ahead.”   

o Signs are ordered and to be installed Friday, April 3rd. 
 
• Building:  Update of work to prepare the Chamber building to become the Town of 

Loxahatchee Groves Town Hall 
 

o In an effort to provide as smooth a transition as possible to the new Town Hall, this 

90 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



office has begun preliminary work to initiate services for the location such as: 
 

 Establish FPL account 
 Establish water and sewer account with Palm Beach County 
 Establish solid waste removal 
 Establish an account with Suncom, State of Florida telecommunications 
 Transfer ATT lines while Suncom gets established 
 Transfer Comcast cable 
 Prepare building with interior painting 
 Prepare for a moving company to relocate offices 
 Approval of Termination Notice to YEE’s Corporation – Lease Agreement for 

Town offices 
o Staff continues to work on all necessary items for the transition. 
o Accounts have been established with FPL and PBC Utilities and painting commenced 

and we are trying to move into Town Hall during the week of April 20th.  Efforts, 
however, are hampered due to the Chamber not leaving anything for the Town’s use.  

 
• Enforcement Actions Manure:  As reported at an earlier Town Council meeting, the targeted 

enforcement of the Town ordinance prohibiting manure hauling into the Town was successful 
in stopping three vehicles.   

 
o This office has been informed of potentially additional violators and we have arranged 

for another targeted enforcement action to take place shortly. 
o No more activity reported since the March 3, 2015 meeting.  
 

• Unauthorized living structures:  Pursuant to Town Council instruction, staff initiated action 
against 1666 C Road for providing for the operations of excess living structures on the property 
which impacts the Town, at a minimum, through solid waste removal without appropriate 
payment for the services. 

 
o Additionally, staff has proceeded with various actions on other properties initiated by 

individuals. 
o Staff began the survey and will finish and work to prepare a report for either the April 

21, or May 5, 2015, agenda. 
 
3. ATTACHMENTS 

 
4. FINANCIAL IMPACT 

 
Not applicable. 

 
5. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

 
Motion to receive and file report. 

91 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 9.a. 

OLD BUSINESS 

Coyote Trappers 

92 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Town of Loxahatchee Groves, FLORIDA 
Town Council  

AGENDA ITEM REPORT 
AGENDA ITEM NO. 9.a. 
MEETING DATE: 04/07/2015 

     

PREPARED BY:   William F. Underwood, III 
  

 

SUBJECT:  Animal Control, trapping and hunting of nuisance species  
  
1.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY  
  

  

Problem Statement: Town residents are having problems with territorial predators in the Town 
of Loxahatchee Groves.   
 
Problem Solution:  Locate contractors with a reliable hunter/trapper for services, who has 
capability and resources to remove or eradicate the nuisance, more specifically, Coyotes.   
 
It has been brought to the Town’s attention, by its constituents, of a particular nuisance species 
that has moved into the community. Because this species is a territorial predator, it places both 
constituents and their livestock at danger, having the potential to inflict bodily or monetary damage to 
the Town’s residents.  
 

 
2.  CURRENT ACTIVITY  
 

  

The Town’s staff has been in researching for vendors regarding the current situation and found multiple 
companies with emphasis on resolving this specific problem.  
 
Considering territorial predators often will move into a territory that either has been eradicated or 
vacated by its predecessor, staff has formulated a flat rate cost with South Florida Outdoors Adventure 
Trapping (SFOAT), for said services that consists of three brackets of service. The first, consisting of 
Raccoons, Possums, etc. will be a $75 fee for scouting and placing traps, as well as a $50 removal fee. 
The second bracket, consisting of Coyotes will consist of a $150 Scouting and trap placement fee, with 
an additional $100 for removal of said animal. The third bracket pertains to Bobcats and Panthers. There 
will be a $175 scouting and trap placement fee, with an additional $150 in the removal of the animal. In 
the latter two brackets, additional equipment such as trail cameras, noise recorders, and bait will all be 
incurred by SFOAT. In order to keep costs down, and seeing as snares, and traps like it are federally 
required to be checked every 24 hours, it will be the responsibility of the property owners to visually 
check the traps, once every 24 hours. Once the nuisance has been caught, SFOAT will be notified to 
remove the animal and reset the trap if necessary.  
 
Kissimmee River Hunt and Fish (KRHF) has submitted a proposal for a 3 night hunt, in which, KRHF  
will, after gaining permission from the individual land owners, track and set up their blinds for a night 
hunt. Each night will require a payment of $500 to KRHF as well as $100 daily expense allowance. 
 
After contacting the city regarding pest solutions, staff has since been informed that Pest-Logic (P-L) 

93 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



does not maintain or possess the necessary equipment to rid us of our primary concern, and as such, 
could not turn in any type of proposal.     
 
It is staff’s understanding the Town Council would engage a vendor that would be paid by the 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves for all expenses as a service to its residents for the removal of 
second tier coyotes and wild boars.             

  
3.  ATTACHMENTS  
   Please see attached Proposals from SFOAT and KRHF 
  
 

4.  FINANCIAL IMPACT  
 

(SFOAT) 
• The three tier cost bracket system has been utilized in order to ensure a flat rate covers the 

services required. The First, which pertains mostly to pests, including but not limited to, 
raccoons, possums, etc. will require $75 fee for scouting and placement of traps, as well as 
$50 removal fee. If applicable, these services will be offered directly to the residents of the 
town, who are willing to incur the costs associated. 

 
The final 2 tiers of the bracketing include predators that are capable of causing monetary loss, and 
endanger the residents. 

• The second tier consists of wild boar and coyotes, in which a $150 fee for scouting and 
placement of traps, as well as, bait, noise devices and trail cameras will be incurred by the 
town, as well as the $100 removal fee of said animals.  

• The third tier will consist of Bobcats and Panthers. There will be a $175 fee for scouting 
and placement of traps, as well as, bait, noise devices and trail cameras will be incurred by 
the town, as well as the $150 removal fee of said animals.  

 
(KRHF) 

• Will require, per night, regardless of outcome, a $500 per night fee, for their expertise in 
hunting, as well as an additional $100 per day expense fee. This brings the total to, $1800 
for the 3 nights.  

       
  
  
5.  RECOMMENDED ACTION  
  
 Town Council decide the vendor and approve a resolution to allow staff to execute a contract.    

94 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                                                   Kissimmee River Hunt and Fish, LLC 

                                                           

                                                                   863-381-8040  

 

 

$500.00 daily 

 Plus $100.00 for expenses 

2 day trip 

Need written permission from land owners 

 

We will locate coyotes during the day and hunt them at night. I will contact land owner with 
confirmation of how many coyotes were taken. 

 

Thank You, 

Dwayne Powell 

KRH&F 

 

95 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SOUTH FLORIDA OUTDOORS ADVENTURE- 
TRAPPING 

The mission of South Florida Outdoors Adventure Trapping is to remove nuisance wildlife. Wildlife that 
causes property damage, presents a threat to public safety, or causes an annoyance will be removed by 
South Florida Outdoors Adventure Trapping. Our company will scout each property that has a concern 
with wildlife nuisance. We will scout the land for areas that may look disturbed by the nuisance animal.  
We will also set up traps/snares in locations where there is obvious identified wildlife tracks. Trapping and 
snaring is a method of removing the nuisance animal. These methods can also attract a different animal. 
Each trap should be checked daily by the customer. If the costumer checks the trap and there is an 
animal that was not request to be trapped the customer can release the animal and reset the trap. If the 
customer chooses not to reset trap then it will be an additional $50 for our company to come and reset 
the traps.  

 

 

 

 

Thank you for your time, 

Kevin Sweeney (owner) if there is any other considers or consideration please doesn’t hesitate to contact 
me via phone or email. (561)818-5080, Abuddemeier@hotmail.com 

Cat, racoon, 
armadillo and 

possum 

$75 - Scout location 
and set traps 

$50 - Removal of 
animal  

Coyote and wild hog 

$150- Scout 
location, set traps, 

bait , noise 
recording and game 

cameras 

$100 - Removal of 
animal  

Bobcat and panther 
$175 - Scout 

location set traps, 
bait, game cameras 

$150 - Removal of 
animal  

96 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Permission to Hunt and/or Trap Form 

 

I hereby grant permission to the person named below to hunt and/or trap on my property 
located at: 

__________________________________________________________ 

 

 

on the following dates: 

___ / ___ / ____ to ___ / ___ / ____ 

 

Landowner Signature: 

 

 

Agreement 

In return for the privilege of hunting and/or trapping on this private property, I agree to obey 
the laws, observe all safety precautions/practices and to assume all responsibility and liability 
for my person while on the landowner’s property. 

 

 Hunter/Trapper Signature ____________________________________________________ 

Address ___________________________________________________________________ 

City, State Postal Code _______________________________________________________ 

Date ________________________________________ 

 

 

97 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

  

Item 10.b. 

NEW BUSINESS 

Requesting Work Authorization to perform miscellaneous 
ordinances and ULDC reform 

98 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Florida 
Town Council  

AGENDA ITEM REPORT 
AGENDA ITEM NO. 10.b. 
MEETING DATE: 04/07/2015 

 

PREPARED BY:    William F. Underwood, II 
  

SUBJECT:  Develop and implement ordinances, other local laws, or the Unified Land Development 
Code (ULDC) to amend various activities within the Town. 
  
1. BACKGROUND/HISTORY  
  

  

Problem Statement:  The Town needs to develop and implement ordinances that can modify 
various activities within the Town and recommend changes to its ULDC in an efficient manner 
that can be implemented quickly.   
 
Problem Solution:   Provide work authorization and funding for the development of ordinances 
and, if necessary, prepare recommended changes to the Town’s ULDC’s for Town Council 
consideration.  

The Town Council and staff have expressed concern over various activities within the Town 
boundaries that negatively affected surrounding residents and the Town’s population generally.  
Town staff expressed the need and ability to provide the Council with guidance and appropriate 
legislation to effect needed changes through standalone ordinances or changes to the Town’s 
ULDC’s.      

  
2. CURRENT ACTIVITY  

  

Recently, various issues have come to the attention of citizens, staff, or Council that need to be 
curtailed or significantly reduced.  Staff has recommended to the Town Council that appropriate 
legislation needs to be created for consideration by the Council of appropriate action needed to 
resolve specific issues and activities within the geographic boundaries of the Town.  Some of the 
activities can be changed in a similar manner as the prohibition of the livestock waste dumping 
within the Town while other activities may need to be altered through changes to the ULDC’s. 
 
Unfortunately, the Town staff is handicapped in the quick development of appropriate 
legislation for Council consideration due to the need to have the Town Council authorize 
specific work effort prior to beginning the creation of a needed remedy to solve a specific 
problem. 
 
Staff is recommending the Town Council authorize a work authorization for the development of 
miscellaneous recommended actions that cannot be identified in advance.  This office will 
advise the Council as quickly as possible of potential changes needing implementation.   
 
In order to quickly and efficiently recommend changes for Council actions, staff has prepared an 

99 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



a work authorization that allows for a miscellaneous scope and a small amount of funding that 
will allow staff to bring specific items forward for Council consideration and, if needed, 
additional funding for the continued development of legislation deemed necessary by the 
Council.  

  
3. ATTACHMENTS  
    Work Authorization 2015‐02 
  
4. FINANCIAL IMPACT  
  
   Budget provided from Comprehensive Planning and Zoning department for Other Services.  
  
5. RECOMMENDED ACTION  
 Motion to authorize work authorization 2015‐02 an expenditure of $3,000 for the creation of 
miscellaneous legislative actions. 
 

100 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Consultant: Underwood Management Services Group, LLC. 
Work Authorization No.: 2015-02 Date: April 7, 2015

Address: 840 NE Stokes Terrace
                   Jensen Beach, Fl. 34957
Brief Description of Task: 

Compensation elements are as follows:
Method of Compensation Amount ($) Task Code

Principal, associates and 
staff support

3,000.00$   

UMSG

Total: 3,000.00$   
Other Notes:

UMSG Principal, associates to produce 
agendas, minutes, assist preparation of 
legislation and report to Council in the 
development of ordinances and, if 
necessary, prepare recommended 
changes to the Town’s ULDC’s for 
Town Council consideration.

Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Florida
Work Authorization No.: 2015-02

Miscellaneous scope with a small amount of funding that will allow staff to bring specific items 
forward for Council consideration and, if needed, additional funding for the continued 
development of legislation deemed necessary by the Council.

The total amount or the limiting amount of the compensation will be: $3,000.00 unless 
additional services are authorized by the Town.

101 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

  

Item 10.c. 

NEW BUSINESS 

Forfeiture Provisions 

 

102 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



{00068107.1 1574-0702400 }  

/wEPDwULLTIwND 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves, FLORIDA 
Town Council AGENDA ITEM REPORT 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 10.c. 

MEETING DATE: 4/7/2015 
      
PREPARED BY:   Michael D. Cirullo, Jr., Town Attorney  

SUBJECT: Question of Forfeiture of Office, Councilman Liang  
 
  
1.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY  
  

  

Problem Statement:  The Town has received information relating to a question of forfeiture as 
to Councilman Liang pursuant to Section 3(4), entitled “VACANCIES IN OFFICE; 
FORFEITURE; SUSPENSION; FILLING OF VACANCIES.”   

 
Problem Solution:  Section 3(4) of the Town Charter provides that the Town Council “shall 
hear all questions relating to forfeiture of a council member,” and that is the “sole judge of the 
qualification of its members.”  (emphasis added).  As a result, the Charter requires the Town 
Council to hear the questions raised in the attached correspondence.  

  
2.  CURRENT ACTIVITY  
 

Section 3(4) of the Town Charter, states, in pertinent part: 

“The council shall be the sole judge of the qualifications of its members and shall hear all questions 
relating to forfeiture of a council member.”   

“The council member whose qualifications are in question or who is otherwise subject to forfeiture of his 
or her office shall not vote on any such matters.”   

“The council member in question shall be entitled to a public hearing on request regarding an alleged 
forfeiture of office.  If a public hearing is requested notice thereof shall be published in one or more 
newspapers of general circulation in the town at least 1 week in advance of the hearing.” 

 

  
  
 
 

  
3.  ATTACHMENTS  
    

103 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



{00068107.1 1574-0702400 }  

Town Attorney Memorandum 2015-002 
Section 3(4), Town Charter 
March 16, 2015, email from Dennis Lipp 
March 13, 2015, correspondence from Richard A. Jarolem, Esquire, and attachments thereto 
March 20, 2015, correspondence from John R. Whittles, Esquire 
 
  
  
4.  FINANCIAL IMPACT  
  
 N/A    
5.  RECOMMENDED ACTION  
  

The initial step for the Town Council in hearing the question is to determine whether the questions raised 
fall within the grounds for forfeiture.  Should the Town Council determine that the questions would not fall 
within the forfeiture provisions of the Charter, no further action by the Town Council would be warranted.   
If the Council finds that the questions fall within the grounds in the Charter, then it should schedule the 
matter for consideration at a future meeting in order to provide Council member Liang an opportunity to 
request a public hearing should he chose to do so. 

 

104 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



{00068059.1 1574-0702400 }  

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
 

INTER-OFFICE CORRESPONDENCE 
  

MEMORANDUM NO. 2015-002 
 
TO:  Mayor David Browning 
  Members of the Town Council 
 
CC:  William Underwood, Town Manager  
  Janet Whipple, Town Clerk 
 
FROM:  Michael D. Cirullo, Office of the Town Attorney  MDC 
   
DATE:  April 7, 2015 
 
RE: Town of Loxahatchee Groves / Question of Forfeiture 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

The Town has received information relating to a question of forfeiture as to Councilman Liang pursuant 
to Section 3(4), entitled “VACANCIES IN OFFICE; FORFEITURE; SUSPENSION; FILLING OF 
VACANCIES.”  The several correspondences are attached hereto.   
 
Section 3(4) of the Town Charter states, in pertinent part:   
 
“The council shall be the sole judge of the qualifications of its members and shall hear all questions 
relating to forfeiture of a council member.”   
 
“The council member whose qualifications are in question or who is otherwise subject to forfeiture of his 
or her office shall not vote on any such matters.”   
 
“The council member in question shall be entitled to a public hearing on request regarding an alleged 
forfeiture of office.  If a public hearing is requested notice thereof shall be published in one or more 
newspapers of general circulation in the town at least 1 week in advance of the hearing.” 
 
This provision of the Charter uniquely and expressly provides that the Town Council “shall hear all 
questions relating to forfeiture of a council member,” and that is the “sole judge of the qualification of its 
members.”  (emphasis added).  As a result, the Charter requires the Town Council to hear the questions 
raised in the attached correspondence.   
 
The initial step for the Town Council in hearing the question is to determine whether the questions raised 
fall within the grounds for forfeiture.  Should the Town Council determine that the questions would not 
fall within the forfeiture provisions of the Charter, no further action by the Town Council would be 
warranted.   If the Council finds that the questions fall within the grounds in the Charter, then it should 
schedule the matter for consideration at a future meeting in order to provide Council member Liang an 
opportunity to request a public hearing should he chose to do so. 
   
Attachments: 

105 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



106 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



107 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



108 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



109 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



110 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



111 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



112 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



113 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



114 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



115 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



116 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



117 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

  

Item 11.c. 

COUNCIL REPORTS 

Class III Waste Delivery 

 

118 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



119 of 119  TC Agenda Packet 04/07/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


	AGENDA
	2.a. Attorney Invoice
	2.b. Minutes
	5.a. Committee Reports Financials
	6.a. Resolution No. 2015-09 - Big Dog Ranch
	8.a. Manager's Report
	9.a. Old Business - Coyotes
	10.b. ULDC reform
	10.c. Forfeiture Provisions
	11.c. Council Reports - Class III Waste



